

Study Board of Mechanics and Physics / Studie Board of Production Fibigerstræde 16 DK - 9220 Aalborg Øst Tlf. 99 40 85 32 snmp@mp.aau.dk / snp@mp.aau.dk www.mp.aau.dk

## Title: Entrepreneurial opportunity identification for de-carbonisation and zero-emission in the NSR

Semester: Fourth Semester theme: Thesis **Project period**: 01.02.2021-03.06.2021 FCTS:30 Supervisor: **Professor Dr. Harry Boer** 

Hamidreza Hamidreza Hansen

[] [60] [21] []

## SYNOPSIS:

The shipping industry is one of the largest and fastest growing sources of global carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrogen oxides (NOx), and Sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions, putting decarbonization and zero emission ships on the political agenda. Decarbonizing and zero emission is a necessity for sustainable blue growth. This research as a sub project in the PERISCOPE project, has answered the research questions using the Concept mapping, AHP, Thematic analysis and Structural Analysis and has also achieved the research objectives. Based on the research objectives, this research has formulated an applicable framework for screening venturing ideas and improved the existing knowledge in the field of entrepreneurship, while neither such framework nor their priorities are in the literature review. The research identified 15 entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission and introduced them to entrepreneurs, investors, and other actors in the NSR. Understanding how each opportunity is arguably plausible is an necessarv for entrepreneurship. Deeper understanding of affecting variables for each opportunity and identification of the strategic variables, is a base for future entrepreneurships in the NSR.

By signing this document, each member of the group confirms participation on equal terms in the process of writing the project. Thus, each member of the group is responsible for the all contents in the project.







## Acknowledgments

I would like to express my utmost gratitude to my supervisor Professor Dr. Harry Boer for the dedicated time, advice and support given throughout the whole period. He was always available over email and Skype calls to discuss and give important feedback.

I would also like to thank Dr. Matthew Jon Spaniol in department of management at Aarhus BSS for his professional knowledge, experience, support, and positive attitude. His door was always open whenever I faced difficulties or needed any help.

Many thanks to my colleagues in the periscope project at Aarhus BSS Aarhus University, Matt Evans, Akhim, Farhad and Kristian for their support.

Hamidreza

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	1
Chapter 1: Introduction Introduction Problem statement and research questions Research objectives Report Structure	3-5 3 4 5 5
Chapter 2: Literature review	6-18
The theories underlying the thesis	6
Decarbonizing and zero emission	8
Deep dive in potential opportunities in the NSR	11
Operationalization variables and concepts	17
Chapter 3: Methodology	
Research method	19
Data collection	19
Statistical sampling	20
Data analyzing methods	21
Concept mapping	21
Analytic hierarchy process	22
Modified Delphi method	23
Qualitative research	23
Trustworthiness	23
Structural/cross impact analysis	24
Chapter 4: Data analysis	25-49
Answer research question 1	25
Answer research question 2	
Answer research question 3	29
Answer research question 4	31
Answer research question 5	34
Answer research question 6	42

Chapter 5: Results, discussion, and conclusion	-59
Study findings that answer question one	. 50
Study findings that answer question two	. 50
Study findings that answer question three	.51
Study findings that answer question four	.51
Study findings that answer question five	. 53
Study findings that answer question six	. 54
Discussion and recommendation for each cluster	. 55
Conclusion	. 58
Limitation	. 59
References	. 60
Appendix 1: Venturing ideas	.71
Appendix 2: AHP questionnaires	. 75
Appendix 3: Samples of Commercially availability time Questionnaire	. 85
Appendix 4: Thematic Analysis Questionnaires	. 87
Appendix 5: Structural analysis questionnaires	. 90

# List of figures

5 5	
Figure 1-2: Periscope project and NSR4	
Figure 1.3: Report structure	
Figure 2.1: ship pollutants9	
Figure 2.2: Emissions of SO2 2000–2030 (ktonnes)9	
Figure 2.3: Emissions of NOx 2000–2030 (ktonnes)10	ļ
Figure 2.4: Sulphur 2020	ļ
Figure 3.1: Data collection methods	
Figure 3.2: Concept mapping process22	
Figure 4.1: Venturing ideas' Point map26	
Figure 4.2: Venturing ideas' cluster map27	
Figure 4.3: Criteria hierarchy tree	
Figure 4.4: Priority of venturing ideas screening criteria	
Figure 4.5: Realizing time for each venturing idea in each cluster	ļ
Figure 4.6: Infrastructural cluster hierarchy tree	
Figure 4.7: Priority of infrastructural venturing ideas based on the screening criteria	
Figure 4.8: Shipbuilding cluster hierarchy tree	
Figure 4.9: Priority of shipbuilding venturing ideas based on the screening criteria	
Figure 4.10: Technology cluster hierarchy tree	
Figure 4.11: Priority of technological venturing ideas based on the screening criteria	
Figure 4.12: Themes and related codes for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.13: Themes and related codes for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.14: Themes and related codes for technological entrepreneurial opportunities	ł
Figure 4.15: Distribution of comments for all entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.16: variables plane	
Figure 4.17: Direct influence/dependence map for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.18: Direct influence graph for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.19: Direct influence/dependence map for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.20: Direct influence graph for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	
Figure 4.21: Direct influence/dependence map for technological entrepreneurial opportunities	,

Figure 4.22: Direct influence graph for technological entrepreneurial opportunities	49
Figure 5.1: Strategic variable affecting realization of the opportunities	54

## List of tables

Table 2.1: Entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation criteria	8
Table 2.2: Initial venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission	11
Table 2.3: operationalization variables and concepts	18
Table 3.1: The used data collection methods	20
Table 3.2: Sampling methods and number of samples	21
Table 3.3: Saaty's Scale of Relative Importance	22
Table 4.1: Participants' demography	25
Table 4.2: Venturing idea for decarbonization and zero emission	26
Table 4.3: Predictions for infrastructural venturing ideas	30
Table 4.4: Predictions for shipbuilding venturing ideas	30
Table 4.5: Predictions for technological venturing ideas	31
Table 4.6: Trustworthiness for entrepreneurial opportunities clusters	35
Table 4.7: Codes for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	35
Table 4.8: Themes and related codes frequency - Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	36
Table 4.9: Codes for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	37
Table 4.10: Themes and related codes shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	38
Table 4.11: Codes for technological entrepreneurial opportunities	39
Table 4.12: Themes and related codes frequency – Technological entrepreneurial opportunities	40
Table 4.13: Frequency of variables(codes) and subcodes for each cluster	41
Table 4.14: MDI characteristics	42
Table 4.15: MDI stability- Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	44
Table 4.16: Variable types for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities	44
Table 4.17: MDI stability-Shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	46
Table 4.18: Variable types for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities	46
Table 4.19: MDI stability-Technological entrepreneurial opportunities	48
Table 4.20: Variable types in the Technological entrepreneurial opportunities	48
Table 5.1: Priority of venturing ideas screening criteria	51

Table 5.2: Estimated year for each venturing idea	. 52
Table 5.3: Entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission	. 53

#### Resumé (Abstract)

The shipping industry is one of the largest and fastest growing sources of global carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrogen oxides (NOx), and sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions, putting decarbonization and zero emission ships on the political agenda. Decarbonizing and zero emission is a necessity for sustainable blue growth. Entrepreneurs by utilizing of their ingenuity can identify venturing ideas and analyse them to identify entrepreneurial opportunities and establish new markets. The markets that can work non-stop while helping to decarbonizing and zero emissions. But how can such opportunities be identified, be made and profitable? Who should it service? Existing knowledge does not answer these questions precisely. Researcher addresses this gap and systematically identified the entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonization and zero emission in the NSR. In this research, as a sub-project in the PERISCOPE project, the researcher aims to: Formulate an applicable framework for screening venturing ideas in the NSR. Introduce entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission to investors. And provide a base for a strategic foresight to manage strategic decisions for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR.

For achieving the first objective, the researcher answered 2 research questions:

1. What are venturing idea for decarbonizing and zero emission and their clustering in the NSR?

2. What are venturing idea screening criteria in the NSR and how are their priority?

In answering question one, the literature review showed (Chapter2), there are 57 venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR. A concept mapping analysis by Concept System software with 15 participants and a fit stress value showed 32 out of 57 venturing idea are more plausible. The participants, then, clustered 32 venturing idea into 3 clusters: Infrastructural, shipbuilding and technological venturing ideas.

In answering question two, brainstorming and AHP analysis by Expert Choice software were used. This analysis showed 4 venturing ideas screening criteria:

- 1. Feasibility.
- 2. The ability to solve emission problem and meet need to decarbonize and zero emission in the NSR.
- 3. Creating value for the NSR.
- 4. Commercially availability time.

With answering these questions, the researcher formulated an applicable framework for screening venturing ideas and improved the existing knowledge in the field of entrepreneurship, while neither such framework nor their priorities are in the literature review.

For achieving the second objective, the researcher answered 2 following research questions:

3- When the venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission will be realized?

4. What are Entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR in each cluster? In answering question three, a modified Delphi approach was used. The results showed Commercially availability time for all 32 identified venturing ideas.

In answering question four, the author used GAHP. To identify entrepreneurial opportunities, the researcher asked 10 experts to complete 12 AHP questionnaires. Based on Expert Choice software outputs and 2 consensus interviews following entrepreneurial opportunities were identified in the NSR.

- 1- Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities: This cluster includes microgrids at large ports, prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets, wind park repurposing, fully electric fish farm and offshore vessel charging stations.
- 2- Shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities: This cluster includes Exhaust scrubber, Solar-powered charging vessel, Renewable methanol vessels,100% Renewable energy vessels and Tide-powered hydrogen vessels.
- 3- Technological entrepreneurial opportunities: This cluster includes Charging at offshore wind parks/farms, Virtual arrival agreements, AI for cargo stowage, International MRV monitoring and Offshore maintenance drones.

For achieving the third objective, the researcher answered 2 following research questions:

- 5. What are the variables affecting realization of these opportunities?
- 6. Which variables are the key (Strategic) variables?

In answering question five, the author performed an inductive qualitative data analysis using MAXQDA V.18 and applied Kappa Coefficient and Stress Value for trustworthiness. In result 79 different variables (codes) identified and clustered in 5 themes for the 15 opportunities. The themes are political, economic, social, technological, and environmental.

In answering question six, Structural Analysis by Micmac software was used. This analysis showed 36 out of 79 identified variables are strategic (key) variables, because those are controllable by the system and have an acceptable impact on the system.

Answering these questions created a deeper understanding of affecting variables for each opportunity. Identification of the strategic variables is a base for future entrepreneurships in the NSR.

Recommendations for each cluster in the chapter 5 are applicational approaches for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR.

## **Chapter 1 Introduction**

#### 1.1 Introduction

The blue economy represents roughly 5.4 million jobs and generates a gross benefit of almost €500 billion a year (Paulauskas, 2018). Maritime industries, such as aquaculture, are moving further offshore to take advantage of the vast space of the ocean, and moving further offshore requires access to consistent, reliable power untethered to land-based power grids (LiVecchi et al. 2019). Oceanographic research and national security missions increasingly rely on autonomous sensor navigation and unmanned vessels and drones that need to function with limited human intervention—pushing further offshore and staying on missions longer—that challenge contemporary techniques of energy generation, storage, transfer, logistics and reliable remote recharging. The development of large-scale activities offshore creates new opportunities for innovative and sustainable business models (LiVecchi et al. 2019).

The North Sea Region (NSR) is a crucial area for Europe's Blue Economy with marine resources, technologically- advanced industries, major port areas and increased offshore activities. The North Sea has played a vital role in the development of the economies around it – supplying food, energy, and transportation routes. It is also a popular tourism and recreation area, as well as a nature reserve. (WEC, 2017). Due to global drivers, the wider maritime, marine, and offshore economies are exposed to profound challenges with some industries undergoing significant changes, including increased production, as well as stagnation and decrease of production - the NSR is experiencing a period of considerable restructuring (Northsearegion.eu).





These new cross-border and cross-sectorial prospects generate new challenges that require entrepreneurship because entrepreneurship plays an important role in fostering economic growth, job creation and innovation to a nation and a transnational region. According to Shane and Venkataraman (2010), "entrepreneurship is concerned with the discovery and exploitation of profitable opportunities". Profit is thus being created by the entrepreneur only because of the discovery, identification or creation of the opportunity and acting upon it. Opportunity identification is the process through which ideas for potentially profitable new business ventures are identified (Baron & Ensley 2006). In the other words, Opportunity identification is "perceiving a possibility for new profit potential through (a) the founding and formation of a new venture, or (b) the significant improvement of an existing venture" (Singh et al. 1999, 658).

The PERISCOPE project that financed by the south Norway European office is an important project for managing of these challenges. This project is structured following the triple helix innovation setup. In the setup Aarhus University, or rather the Strategic Foresight Research Network (SFRN) constitutes the academic circle. Aarhus University's task is to provide a holistic approach for networked industry foresight. The PERISCOPE benefit is to have state-of-the-art industry foresight tools to predict the future of the blue market economy.



## Figure 1-2: Periscope project and NSR

The PERISCOPE aims to support Interreg North Sea's objectives, first and foremost "Thinking growth" by strengthening cross-sector Blue Growth innovation capacity in the NSR by bringing together the players (businesses, entrepreneurs, clusters/networks, researchers, universities, business angels, incubators, investors and funds, customers/users, regional and local authorities and development/business support agencies) for knowledge sharing, acceleration and launch of new innovation-projects for sustainable business development .Identification of entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonization and zero emission is one of these projects.

In the previous researches in the NSR, the role of entrepreneurship has been neglected or ignored but this research will establish an entrepreneurial discovery process through opportunity identification to reinforce the knowledge base, identify and valorise innovation ideas, and open up a Blue Growth ecosystem to stimulate industry-driven action on the concrete opportunities ahead.

#### **1.2 Problem statement and research questions**

The shipping industry is one of the largest and fastest growing sources of global carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrogen oxides (NOx), and sulphur oxides (SOx) emissions, putting opportunity identification for decarbonizing and zero emission ships on the political agenda. In view of climate change and the unsustainable level of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and the associated climate impact, the International Maritime Organisation (IMO) continues to contribute to the global fight against climate change, in support of the UN Sustainable Development Goal 13, to take urgent action to combat climate change and its impacts (WEC Netherlands, 2017, OECD, 2018 and IMO.org). Therefore Increasing pressure is on the marine and maritime industry to take more environmentally friendly measure to reduce their carbon footprint by replacing fossil fuels with renewable energy or finding other ways that can help them to attain zero emission. This pressure has posed serious challenges to the North Sea. Researcher addresses this gap and

systematically explore the diverse entrepreneurial opportunities that can yield to decarbonization and zero emission. In particular, the author answers the following research questions.

- 1- What are venturing idea for decarbonizing and zero emission and their clustering in the NSR?
- 2- What are venturing idea screening criteria in the NSR and how are their priority?
- 3- When the venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission will be realized?
- 4. What are Entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR in each cluster?
- 5. What are the variables affecting realization of these opportunities?
- 6. Which variables are the key (Strategic) variables?

## 1.3 Research objectives

In this study, the researcher aims to:

- 1. Formulate an applicable framework for screening venturing ideas in the NSR.
- 2. Introduce entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission to investors.

3. Provide a base for a strategic foresight to manage strategic decisions for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR.

## **1.4 Thesis Structure**

In the "Introduction" chapter the author discusses the background and problem formulation of the study together with the research questions that this report aims to answer.

Chapter two is dedicated to "Literature review". This chapter presents a broad literature review on the theories underlying the thesis: Entrepreneurship, opportunity, entrepreneurial opportunity definitions, opportunity identification models, entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation criteria and a deep dive in potential opportunities in the NSR. In the last section of this chapter, operationalization variables and concepts were presented. The next chapter is called "Methodology", where the used research methods, data collection and data analysis methods are described.

Chapter four is where the author analysis the data. In the fifth chapter the author answers the research questions possessed in the beginning and draws a concluding remark in the end of this chapter and provides recommendations.



Figure 1.3: Thesis structure

## **Chapter 2 Literature review**

This chapter discusses the core constructs of the research. The first section focuses on the theories underlying the thesis. The second section focuses on the decarbonizing and zero emission and their importance in the NSR and the third section is a deep dive in potential opportunities (Venturing ideas) in the NSR. The fourth section presents operationalization variables and concepts.

#### 2.1 The theories underlying this thesis

The thesis title is "Entrepreneurial opportunity identification for de-carbonisation and zero-emission", therefore entrepreneurship, opportunity, entrepreneurial opportunity, opportunity identification and entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation criteria are the theories related to this title; but only some of these theories can be underlying of this thesis.

Innovation and Entrepreneurship has proven to be the most successful way to address problems and create both economic and social opportunity. Innovation is applying creativity to come up with a unique idea or solution. Entrepreneurship, by contrast, is applying the innovation to bring the ideas to life. (Sandberg,2015). There are a lot of definitions of **entrepreneurship** in the literature (such as Stevenson,1990; Venkataraman,1997; Timmons,1999; Shane and Venkataraman,2000; Johson,2001; Stevenson,2001; and Kuratko and Morris,2002). The entrepreneurship definition of Shane and Venkataraman (2000) is one of underlying theory of this thesis:

"Entrepreneurship is 'an activity that involves the discovery, evaluation and exploitation of opportunities to introduce new goods and services, ways of organizing, markets, processes, and raw materials through organizing efforts that previously had not existed." (Shane and Venkataraman, 2000)

The central key term in entrepreneurship definitions is the opportunity. The notion of opportunities is central to understanding economic transformation, and the concept of "opportunities" has been extensively used to explore different aspects of innovation, entrepreneurship, and industrial dynamics (Holmen et.al,2007). There are also a lot of definitions of **opportunity** in the literature (such as Krueger 1993 and 1998; Timmons,1997; Ardichvili, et.al,2003; Baron and Shane,2005; Short et.al,2010; and Ding,2019). The opportunity definition of Baron and Shane, (2005) is another underlying theory of this thesis:

"A potential factor in creating something new that comes from changing circumstances." (Baron and Shane, 2005).

**Entrepreneurial opportunity** is one of the vital elements of entrepreneurial behaviour and is one of the central concepts of entrepreneurship definition has been mentioned in much research in the field of entrepreneurship and it is called as the heart and critical attribute of entrepreneurship. (Tumasjan & Braun,2012; Tang et al,2012; Lehner & Kansikas, 2012, Vaghely,2008). Different authors provided different definitions of entrepreneurial opportunity (such as Shane and Venkataraman,2000; Eckhardt and Shane,2003; Gonzalez and Solis,2011; Zoltan, McMullen, and Plummer,2007; Autio,2015; Laverty and Little,2020). The entrepreneurial opportunities definition of Shane and Venkataraman (2000) is another underlying theory of this thesis:

"Entrepreneurial opportunities are those situations in which new goods, services, raw materials, and organizing methods can be introduced and sold at greater than their costs of production" (Shane and Venkataraman, 2000).

**Opportunity identification** is recognized as one of the most important abilities of successful entrepreneurs. Rapidly changing world, the ever-changing business environment, globalization, and the dynamics of the markets make the pursuit of new entrepreneurial opportunities a necessity (Munger, Purdy & Artz 2002). There are several definitions of opportunity identification (such as Hills, 1995; Singh et al., 1999; Sarasvathy et al, 2003; Baron and Ensley, 2006; Barringer and Ireland, 2007; Ozgen and Baron, 2007 and Corbett, 2007). The opportunity identification definition of Singh et al., (1999) and Sarasvathy et al. (2003) are other underlying theories of this thesis:

"Perceiving a possibility for new profit potential through (a) the founding and formation of a new venture, or (b) the significant improvement of an existing venture" (Singh et al., 1999).

Opportunity identification is an activity that evaluates and prioritizes business ideas and selects the best opportunity from among the ideas. (Sarasvathy et al,2003).

There are also several models for opportunity identification in the entrepreneurial literature (such as: Morison model ,1997; Singh et al. model ,1999; Ardichvili et. al model 2003; Gundry & Kichul ,2006; Ozgen and Baron model ,2007; Lumpkin et.al model ,2004; Hajizadeh and Zali model ,2016; and Filser et. al model 2020).

Filser et. al model 2020 is another underlying theory of this thesis which shows Personal factors such as prior knowledge, experience, cognitive processes, personality traits and genetics, environmental factors such as networks, Technology, demographic change, market conditions, and organizational aspects such as potential financial reward, entrepreneurial culture, decision making processes, organizational learning, and information sourcing, all influencing opportunity identification (Filser et.al 2020).

Various frameworks and criteria have been proposed by entrepreneurship researchers to **evaluate entrepreneurial opportunities**. Table 2.1 shows categorization of entrepreneurial opportunities evaluation criteria. This table has sent to experts to identify idea screening criteria. (See 1.2, 4.2 and 5.2).

Combining different underlying theory of entrepreneurship, opportunity, entrepreneurial opportunity, and opportunity identification processes, in this research a process of entrepreneurial opportunity identification is defined as a discovery or a creation of a new entrepreneurial opportunity through following steps:

1.Identification of venture ideas in the NSR

The author has identified 57 venturing ideas (potential opportunities) for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR by a deep dive in 110 maritime reports, 50 websites and 40 articles. (See 2.7, table 2.2 and 4.1).

2. Venturing Idea screening with the criteria that will determine by experts (see 4.2) to identify entrepreneurial opportunities. (See 4.4)

3. Decide about how to start a new venture. (See 4.5 and 4.6).

The research has adapted Filse et. al model for statistical sampling and opportunity identification. Based on this model, the researcher identified an initial sample of experts who have the necessary knowledge, expertise, and experience in the field of research. The researcher then accessed the experts using the snowball sampling method. (See 3.3)

Evaluation criteria	Items	Authors
category		
Economic and	Total cost, profit, and revenue generation,	Long and McMullan (1984),
financial factors	required investing, Return on investment (ROI),	Timmons (1986), Murnieks et al.
	R&D expenditures	(2011), Douglas and Shepherd
		(2002), Smith et al. (2010), Spinelli
		and Adams (2012)
Market and industry	Commercially availability time (an accepted	Long and McMullan(1984)
	practice), Safe market, Market need, Target	Timmons(1986),Smith et al. (2010),
	market, key customers, competitors, market	Murnieks et al. (2011), Spinelli and
	structure, market size, market potential, market	Adams (2012)
	capacity, market share attainable, growth rate	
Product or service	Available alternative, Novelty, rarity,	Long and McMullan (1984),
issues	substitutability, imitability, competitive	Dobbins&Pettman(1998), Wikhan,
	advantage, product/service life, sustainability,	Shapherd et al. (2013), Williams and
	value proposition Creating value for customers	Wood (2015), Spinelli and Adams
		(2012)
Destachtliche	Al-224 As a sheet a supplication for an addition of the second	
Desirability	Ability to solve a problem, income, risk, work	Douglas and Snepherd (2002),
	errort, independence, net perquisites	Fitzsimmons and Douglas (2011),
Foocibility	Einancial fossibility, market and inductry fossibility	Hayfile et al. (2009)
reasibility	product/convice feasibility, practicality feasibility,	(2010) Zabra et al. $(2006)$
	tochnical fossibility	(2010), Zahlia et al. (2000)
Human canital	Knowledge skills education experience	Long and McMullan (1984)
numan capitai	(industry or technical) Compatibility with the	Wickham (2006) Wood and
	(industry of technical), compatibility with the	Witchiam (2000), Wood and
	power and skins of rounders (entrepreneur),	williams (2014), Barreto (2012),
	entrepreneurial team, intellectual honesty,	Grichnik et al. (2010), Dimov
	intellectual capital, learnings, cognitive-	(2010), Murnieks et al. (2011),
	metacognitive abilities, social networks,	Mitchell and Shepherd (2010)
	individual characteristics, appropriate	
	management team	
Environmental	Economic, political, social, and cultural or	Smith et al. (2010), Mitchell and
factors	technological environment, environmental	Shepherd (2010), Autio et al.
	uncertainty	(2013)

Table 2.1 Entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation criteria

## 2.2. Decarbonizing and zero emission

Ships and large industries of the maritime are responsible for more than 18 percent of some air pollutants (Walker, 2019). More than 90 % of global trade is done with ships (Matthias et.al. 2009). The total global transport work by ships (in ton miles) has been tripled since the mid-1980s (Smith et al., 2014). Shipping is a major cause of harmful air pollution in Europe and by 2025 shipping emissions of SO2 and NOx could exceed the emissions of these pollutants from all other sources in the EU (Airclim. et.al, 2016).

Commercial ships burn fuel for energy and emit several types of air pollution as by-products. Shipsource pollutants most closely linked to climate change and public health impacts include carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulphur oxides (SOx) and particulate matter (clearseas.org).





One large ship can generate about 5,000 tonnes of sulphur oxide (SOx) pollution in a year.70% of all ship emissions are within 400km of land, and In the North Sea, 90% of emissions take place within 90 km from shore (Ågren,2020) .85% of all ship pollution is in the northern hemisphere. Shipping is responsible for 3.5% to 4% of all climate change emissions (Vidal,2009). While pollutant emissions from land-based sources are gradually decreasing, those from shipping show a continuous increase (Figs.2.2 and 2.3). (Airclim. et.al,2016). Under current legislation, it is expected that shipping emission of the SO2 and NOx will increase by 40–50% up to 2020, as compared to 2000. In both cases, by 2020 the emissions from international shipping around Europe are expected to equal or even surpass the total from all land-based sources in the 27 EU member states combined. In the absence of mitigation policies, and innovative solutions, ship emissions could double or even triple by 2050 (Airclim. et.al,2016). Both gases (NOx and SO2) affect adversely on human health and ecosystem (Licki et al,2015).







The North Sea is one of the areas with the highest ship densities in the world. Europe's three biggest harbours in Rotterdam, Hamburg, and Antwerp are in the North Sea region. At any time, about 3000 ships are sailing in the North Sea. The steady increase in the number and size of ships leads to an increasing contribution of ships to air pollution in North Sea coastal areas (Matthias et al., 2016). From 1 January 2020, the limit for sulphur in fuel oil used on board ships operating outside designated emission control areas is reduced from 3.50% sulphur by mass (after January 1, 2012) to 0.50% m/m (mass by mass). This will significantly reduce the amount of sulphur oxides emanating from ships and should have major health and environmental benefits for the world, particularly for populations living close to ports and coasts (Schrooten, et al.2009 and IMO 2020).



*Figure 2.4: Sulphur 2020* (Source: https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Pages/Sulphur-2020.aspx)

Due to the necessity of decarbonizing, zero emission and environmental protection, and improving the blue growth, identification of entrepreneurial opportunity recently captured the imagination of the marine and maritime community.

## 2.3. Deep dive in potential opportunities in the NSR

The North Sea presents concrete business opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission, but Timely action is vital, as the required investments have a long technical lifetime. Decisions made today, and in the coming 15 years, will be crucial for progress towards the 2050 CO2 reduction targets. Therefore, identification of these opportunities is very important. (World Energy Council,2017). For this reason, the researcher has tried in the first step to identify all the potential opportunities (Venturing ideas) for decarbonization and zero emissions in the North Sea region.

The author had identified 222 venturing ideas (potential opportunities) for all activity aspects in the NSR by a deep dive in 110 maritime reports, 50 websites and 40 articles during the internship in PERISCOPE project since September to December 2020. (See appendix 1). There are 57 out of 222 initial ideas that are directly or indirectly related to decarbonization and zero emission. Table 2.2 Shows these ideas.

Idea	Description	Source
Decommissioning	In the next 7 years, 150 oil and gas platforms are expected to be	World Energy Council
optimization	decommissioned in the North Sea. Annual global spending on	Netherlands (2017), Fraser
	decommissioning is set to increase from \$2.4bn in 2015 to	(2016), International
	\$13bn per year by 2040. Given the complexity and uniqueness of	Association of Oil & Gas
	each removal activity, firms earn new knowledge about	Producers (2017), IHS Markit
	environmental hazards on each operation.	(2016),Hou et.al (2016)
Prolonging life and re-	Perform a technical assessment of the current infrastructure to	World Energy Council
purposing O&G assets	understand its compatibility for new uses, such as the use of	Netherlands (2017),
	natural gas pipelines for transporting hydrogen, methane, or	
	CO2	
Maritime synergies and	Spatial planning is a tool for improving maritime governance in	World Energy Council
spatial planning	waters of EU countries. Evidence that it could increase the	Netherlands and Andrew Sean
	efficiency of licensing offshore activities whilst protecting the	Merrie (2016)
	marine environment led to the adoption of Directive	
	2014/89/EU establishing a framework for maritime spatial	
	planning (MSP)	
Electrifying oil and gas	By producing clean energy through offshore wind, electrifying	World Energy Council
platform	oil, and gas platforms (thereby reducing the carbon footprint of	Netherlands (2017),
	O&G production) and using old gas fields for carbon storage,	
	the North Sea could substantially contribute to lowering GHG	
	emissions and other fossil fuel related emissions.	
Smart ships (industry	Smart ships are being widely debated as the shipping industry's	Lloyd's register, QinetiQ, and
4.0)	next technological revolution. In the manufacturing industry, the	university of Strathclyde
	term 'fourth industrial revolution' describes how 'smart devices	(2013),
	will replace the role of humans for the management,	And VTT Technical Research
	optimization and control of machinery.	Centre of Finland (2020)
	smart ships enable new optimisation of operation, and	
	constantly enhancing design methods that can bring significant	
	energy savings in ships.	

#### Table 2.2 Initial venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission

Idea	Description	Source
Sensor for efficient ship	Sensors monitor ships on fuel efficiency. They combine data	https://angel.co/we4sea-1
	from different sources to give a full insight into the operations of	
	ships. Data sources include sensor data from ships, position data	https://angel.co/sirenmarine
	of ships and data on weather conditions (currents, waves, wind).	
	Combining this data, they give shipowners a (near) real-time	
	overview of his operations. Furthermore, they show deviations	
	from design conditions that impact fuel consumption.	
No-ballast systems	Researchers are investigating a radical new design for cargo	https://www.sciencedaily.com/
	ships that would eliminate ballast tanks, the water-filled	releases/2008/03/0803261116
	compartments that enable non-native creatures to sneak into	41.htm
	the Great Lakes from overseas.	
Long-distance power	High voltage DC (HVDC) submarine lines that can transmit	https://phys.org/news/2016-
transmission	electricity for long distances with fewer losses than alternating	09-superconductive-material-
	current, or AC, lines.	long-distance-energy-
		transmission.html
Ocean vent thermal	Hydrothermal vent is a kind of manifestation of geothermal	Hauerhof (2017)
energy conservation	energy on seabed. It produces high temperature fluid through a	Aryadi et al (2016)
	hole which has a diameter in various range between several	
	inches to tens of meters. Some of them have a thermal power of	
	up to 60 MWt. The technology of hydrothermal vent using ORC	
	method has small impact to the environment. With an output	
	energy as huge as mentioned before, the price of constructing	
	this technology is low considering the empty of cost for drilling	
	as what it should be in conventional exploitation.	
Ocean nanobots	The newly developed nanobots have three key components: a	http://www.businessinsider.co
	graphene oxide exterior to absorb lead (or another heavy metal);	m/graphene-based-nanobots-
	a nickel core that enables researchers to control the nanobots'	can-suck-pollutants-from-our-
	movement via a magnetic field; and an inner platinum coating	oceans-2016-
	that functions as an engine and propels the bots forward via a	<u>4?r=US&amp;IR=T&amp;IR=T</u>
	chemical reaction with hydrogen peroxide. Scientists	https://www.marketwatch.co
	demonstrating that new microscopic underwater warriors can	m/story/nanobots-are-waiting-
	remove up to 95% of lead in wastewater in just 1 hour.	in-the-wings-to-cure-cancer-
		and-clean-up-ocean-pollution-
		<u>2016-06-09</u>
Greener engines	Greener engines that minimise Nitrogen Oxide output and	https://phys.org/news/2016-
	strives to achieve zero Sulphur Oxide output. Aamir Farooq and	11-technique-foundation-
	colleagues from KAUST's Clean Combustion Research Center	greener-fuels.html
	(CCRC), working with the Fuel Technology Team at Saudi	https://www.rolls-
	Aramco, used an innovative technique for testing the properties	royce.com/about/our-
	of light naphtha, a fully blended, low-octane, highly paraffinic	technology/research/research-
	fuel.	programmes/sustainable-and-
		green-engine-sage-

Idea	Description	Source
		itd.aspx#lean-burn-
		demonstrator
Advanced ultra-	Compared to conventional designs, the Kappel propeller blades	https://www.gallois.be/ggmag
efficient propeller	offer fuel savings of up to 6 percent. The improvement relates to	azine_2012/gg_06_11_2012_2
designs	the blade design alone, not relying on improvements from other	<u>54.pdf</u>
	components – such as a rudder buib integrated with propeller	
Solar cell hybrid system	Solar hybrid power systems are hybrid power systems that	Kumar and Garg (2013)
	combine solar power from a photovoltaic system with another	
	power generating energy source.	
Diversification of the	NV sees distillates and LNG becoming more prominent sources	https://www.norwayexports.n
fuel mix	in 2030. according to its report, LNG will be generally available in	o/news/green-innovation-in-
	the period 2020-2025 and deep-sea ships will run on distillates,	maritime-technology/
	LNG, biofuels, renewable and batteries.	
Exhaust scrubber	The solution will remove sulphur and particulates from the	https://www.norwayexports.n
	exhaust gases of the vessel's main and auxiliary engines and	o/news/green-innovation-in-
	weigh roughly 70 tonnes in equipment plus piping. Bimco reports	maritime-technology/
	that 13 percent of the main cargo carrying ship types,	https://www.maritime-
	approximately 2,600 of the roughly 20,000 commercial cargo-	executive.com/article/scrubber
	carrying ships, are currently fitted with scrubbers.	-installations-continue-with-
		containerships-leading-the-way
Fire Fighter Robots	is an autonomous humanoid robot capable of detecting and	https://www.marineinsight.co
	suppressing shipboard fires and working shoulder to shoulder	m/future-shipping/5-
	with human firefighters using advanced sensors.	innovative-robotic-
	5 5	technologies-for-the-maritime-
		industry/
Prolonging the lifespan	Circular economy as a concept has gained attention worldwide.	https://www.plateconference.
of offshore	One strategy for extend the lifetime of wind turbines is the	org/routes-extending-lifetime-
infrastructure	application of different circular economy initiatives being	wind-turbines/
	service/maintenance, reuse/redistribution, and remanufacture/	
	refurbishment.	
Multi-use platforms	Developing a concept of Multi-use Oceanic Platforms has	http://www.troposplatform.eu
	become one of the EU's most interesting bets to guarantee the	<u>/tropos-european-</u>
	use and synergistic exploitation of oceanic resources in a	collaborative-project/What-is-
	sustainable and eco-mendly manner.	Linnen (2020)
Po nurnosing of	After oil and are production has seared energiators may deem	Morld Enormy Council
infrastructuro	nlatforms and infrastructure worthloss for further use	Netherlands (2017)
Re-nurnosing old O&C	Nonetheless those assets could find a new life and be used for	ivetiteriarius (2017)
assets	the storage of renewable energy, as well as CO2. This would	

Idea	Description	Source
	support the transition to a low carbon energy system in the	
	North Sea.	
Solar desalination	Solar desalination is a technique to desalinate water using solar	https://blog-
	energy. There are two basic methods of achieving desalination	en.condorchem.com/evaporati
	using this technique: direct and indirect. In the direct method, a	on-systems-water-
	solar collector is coupled with a distilling mechanism and the	desalination/#.YJQKH9Uzapp
	process is carried out in one simple cycle. Indirect solar	
	desalination employs two separate systems; a solar collection	
	array, consisting of photovoltaic and/or fluid based thermal	
	collectors, and a separate conventional desalination plant.	
Modularized	Tenne T presents Hub and Spoke concept for large scale wind	https://www.tennet.eu/our-
infrastructure	energy on the North Sea.	key-tasks/innovations/north-
		sea-infrastructure/
Zana fivel alaina		
Zero-ruei snips	snipping companies across the world are trying to come up with	nttps://www.marineinsignt.co
	the stringent regulations about fuel emissions from vessels Five	m/green-snipping/top-5-zero-
	the stillingent regulations about rule emissions from vessels. Five	https://www.marinoinsight.co
	montioned below: 1 E/S Orcello 2 Super Eco Ship 2020 2	mtps://www.maimemsight.co
	Container Ecodor Voscal ZEDO 4. Euturoshin Zara Emission Earry	reduce fuel consumption of
	Concent and 5, B0 Cargo Shins	ships/
	concept and 5. By cargo snips	<u>sinps/</u>
3D imaging of cargo	Stowage plans, especially in ro-ro bay optimization, can be	http://www.interschalt.com/fil
stowage areas	better balanced "on the fly" to maximize the fuel efficiency and	eadmin/user_upload/MACS3_
	safety on board.	MixStow_Module.pdf
LNG Bunkering	Regional strategy to provide infrastructure so as not to overlap	https://www.dnv.com/maritim
infrastructure in the	or create expensive redundancies.	e/Ing/infrastructure.html
North Sea		
The evolving diesel	This is for sub-suppliers developing technologies that can be	Shrinivasa (2012)
motor	added on or around or within proximity of diesel motors.	
Offshore maintenance	Offshore platforms sometimes cause environmental pollution.	Joshi, D., (2019),
drones	These platforms require regular inspection and maintenance.	Brogaard, R., (2020)
	Drones equipped with tools such as welders and grinders, would	Daponte, P et.al (2019)
	provide a safer and cheaper service.	
Composite bulk carrier	Fires and explosions have resulted in 112 large vessel losses in	Thomas, G. (2020),
hull	the past decade. And have caused a great deal of pollution and	Johnson, T., (2018)
	emissions. Composite materials, however, are highly resistant to	Håkansson et.al (2017)
	fire compared to wood and steel.	
Pilot project with clean	I ne project has a high level of community benefit, as it can help	https://www.gminsights.com/i
burning gas carriers	to start using a tuel associated with significantly less	ndustry-analysis/dimethyl-
	environmental impact than today's alternatives. DME-powered	etner-dme-market
	snips nave a positive effect on the quality of the dock in local	
	ports as well as being of major importance in a larger climate	

Idea	Description	Source
	perspective. The EU's goal is to reduce CO2 emissions from	
	maritime transport by 40% (if possible 50%) by 2050 compared	
	with 2005 levels.	
Sensor system for	The system will improve the accuracy of weather models and	https://www.ipta.org.uk/news/
collecting weather and	improve weather forecast routing to reduce fuel consumption	item/84-reduction-of-ghg-
traffic data from ships.	and risk related to difficult routes and weather conditions.	emissions-imo-data-collection-
		system
100% Renewable	Vessels' engines powered by waves. They are hybrid ships that	http://www.ouroceanschalleng
energy vessels	use both waves energy and electrical power provided by solar	e.org/blue-motion-energy/
	panels placed on board. In this way they can sail without CO2	
	emissions and without refuelling. They should be more	
	lightweight than the today ships because they do not need place	
	for fuel or big engines that better exploit the waves power. The	
	technology is already tested and validated; the optimization is	
	still ongoing.	
Offshore vessel	Infrastructure of offshore charge points in the open sea fuelled	http://www.ouroceanschalleng
charging stations	by renewable energy for powering offshore service vessels. A	e.org/offshore-charge-points/
	first step is to build electric offshore service vessels. Supply	
	vessels will not need to dock for refuelling, allowing for faster	
	loading times, better air quality in harbours / coastal cities, cost	
	reduction on fuel, and energy gains from moving beyond	
	Inefficient diesel engines.	
50MW floating	"With a footprint of three soccer fields, energy is harvested	http://www.ouroceanschalleng
converter and	from sea water and waves, enough for 150,000 families. Similar	e.org/floating-cathedrai/
accumulator	12 pontoons on the lower and of the construction to make along	
	with the wayes, generating operating operating to pump up see water to a	
	reservoir 50m high. The water flows back to the sea from the	
	reservoir in a continuous way through a set of hydro turbines	
	The continuous water flow guarantees a continuous power	
	output."	
Charging at Offshore	Offshore terminals reroute containers to short sea shippers and	Bebbington, T. (2017)
container terminal	provide platforms for renewable ocean energy.	Hansen (2020)
Standardized data	Standardization for the data format for real-time reporting of	Dennis Mes et.al (2016)
scheme for monitoring,	fuel type usage and emissions will improve regulatory	
verification, and	enforcement practices.	
reporting		
Subsea drone charging	The installation of subsea drone charging platforms at offshore	Röckmann C. et.al (2017),
platform	wind farms will allow for autonomous subsea drones to	Measure, (2020)
	undertake maintenance and reduce costs.	Cherdo. L, (2020)
Wind farms that move	Autonomous roaming wind farms that optimize energy	Hill, J. (2018)
autonomously in the	production by moving around in the ocean. They move away by	Equinor (2020)
ocean	the places without wind to ones windier.	Kinhal, V. (2020)

Idea	Description	Source
(Roaming Autonomous		
Wind Farms)		
fully electric fish farm	Fish farms, located far out to sea, could go fully electric by using	Worldfishing & Aquaculture
	wave energy, and use surplus power to charge the electric	(2014),
	vessels that make voyage out to the farm.	GoodFishBadFish (2020),
		Syse, H. L. (2016),
Charging at offshore	Offshore wind turbines could provide electricity to recharge the	Hansen(2020),
wind parks/farms	battery-equipped vessels that service and maintain them,	Roslyng Olesen, T. (2016),
	reducing fuel requirements and emissions	Haynes, J. (2019)
Thermal vent smoke	Hydrothermal vents on the ocean floor can offer an	Budgen, P. (2017),
filtering	inexhaustible supply of valuable minerals and metals. Plume	Hoekstra, C. (2019),
	filtering techniques could environmentally friendly.	O'Kruk, A. (2019),
Microgrids at large	Enhanced energy storage and utilization systems at large ports,	Martínez, J., Vazquez, P. &
ports	powered by renewable energy, could play a role in decarbonizing	Maldonado, J. (2019),
	the maritime and transport industries.	Flaherty, N. (2018),
		Hosseini, A., Sangsefidi, Y. &
		Sani, A. (2018)
Solar-powered charging	A network of autonomous solar powered vessels could provide	Hansen(2020),
vessel	on-call recharging services in route, enabling increased speeds	Diamandis, P. H. (2019),
	and radius for other electrified vessels.	Linder, C. (2019),
charging at Thermal-	A multi-use platform for extracting ocean resources, producing	Hansen (2020),
powered platform	hydrogen, and providing energy for charging of the passing	
	vessels.	
Renewable Liquid	Using methanol produced from natural gas offers reduction of	Chatterton (2020),
methanol fuel for	local pollution (NOx, SOx emissions). Methanol produced from	Advent Technology, (2019),
vessels	renewable sources, can substantially contribute to reducing GHG	
	emissions from shipping.	
Tide-powered	Hydrogen gas tanks, recharged at tidal power plants, could be	Hansen (2020),
hydrogen vessels	swapped on and off medium-sized vessels to help with the	Giannini, G. (2019),
	greening of the maritime and offshore industries.	Husseini, T. (2018),
		Woo, M.J. (2017)
Flying ships	Forcing a layer of air between a ship's hull and the water,	Sinha T. (2019),
	improving fuel efficiency, and reducing emissions.	Raunek (2019),
		SSPA (2020).
Thermal-powered	A multi-use platform for extracting ocean resources, producing	Global Market Insights (2018),
platform	hydrogen, and providing a base for detection of illegal fishing by	PEW Environment Group (2008)
	drones, powered by thermal energy	
Lightweight containers	Constructing steel containers instead with high-strength	Blume Global, (2020),
	lightweight composite materials would allow for higher stacking,	Bison, (2020),
	lower fuel expenses, and thereby reduce emissions.	Yildiz, T. (2019),
		Stratiotis, E., (2018)
Ice-class container	Very large ice-class certified container vessels, sailing through	WorldShipping (2017),
Vessel	the Arctic's Northern Sea Route and Northwest Passage, would	Ørsts et.al (2016),
		Solakivi, et.al (2019),

Idea	Description	Source
	reduce shipping distances by up to 40% and thereby reduce Lasserre, F. (2014) emission.	
Offshore logistics hub	Co-locating a container terminal at an offshore wind energy park	Selin, H. & R. Cowing, (2018),
	would be able to use excess electricity to desalinate water for	Adamopoulos, A., (2019),
	hydrogen for powering feeder vessels.	Spaniol (2020)
Virtual arrival	Ports and shipping companies entering into virtual arrival	Napa, (2019),
agreements	agreements, enabling ships to arrive at ports just as space is	University of Copenhagen,
	opening, minimizing fuel consumption and thereby reduce	(2019),
	emissions.	Karimpour, R, (2018),
Oilfield thermite plug	Offshore oil field decommissioning is done with a seabed cement	Vrålstad, T., Saasen et.al (2019)
	plug. These crack and oil leaks out. Thermite would be a reliable	Kaminski, I. (2017).
	and long-term solution	Wellcem (2017).
International MRV	Ships above 5000 gross tonnes in the EU are required to monitor	European Commission, (2020),
	and report on fuel consumption and emissions. However, there	IMO, (2020),
	is a lack of transparency and enforcement.	
Al for cargo stowage	RoRo vessels carry 234 million tonnes of goods around Europe	Martinez, C. (2020),
	annually. Artificial intelligence for cargo stowage could limit	ECSA (2016),
	delays, ensure balance, and lower ballast. And reduce fuel	Wathne, E. (2012),
	consumption.	
Renewable methanol	Renewable methanol can be produced from renewable	Hobson, C., & Márquez, C.
vessels	electricity. such as wind. Using it as a fuel to power ocean – going	(2018),
	vessels would make shipping virtually emission free.	Advent Technology, (2019),
Wind Park repurposing	Repurposing offshore wind parks' infrastructure by installing	World Energy Council (2017)
	wave energy systems would offset the cost of decommissioning	International Renewable
	and increase renewable energy generation.	Energy Agency (2014),
Carbon Capture and	Carbon capture and storage (CCS) involves capturing carbon	Whitmarsh (2019),
Storage	dioxide (CO2) emissions, caused by human activities, ideally	IPCC (2005)
	before they enter the Earth's atmosphere, then transporting and	https://ec.europa.eu/clima/pol
	storing them securely in geological sites.	icies/innovation-fund/ccs_en
Seaweed as a biofuel	Seaweed can be used as a biofuel. Seaweed production within	World Energy Council (2017)
	offshore windfarms could reduce CO2 emissions by 202 Mt	
	over the period 2020-	
	2050.	

## 2.4 operationalization variables and concepts

Based on the research questions and objectives, the theories underlying the thesis, the decarbonizing and zero emission and their importance in the NSR and a deep dive in potential opportunities (Venturing ideas) in the NSR, following variables and concepts have been measured in this thesis. (Table 2.3)

Concept/Variable	Measurement	
Venturing ideas	Brainstorming	
	Focus statement: Venturing ideas for decarbonization and zero	
	emission in the NSR.	
	Questions in discussion step:	
	1.What are plausible ideas?	
	2. What are duplicate, unrelated, and similar ideas?	
	3. How is their clustering?	
venturing ideas screening criteria	Brainstorming and Analytic Hierarchy Process	
	Focus statement: Criteria for screening ideas to identify	
	entrepreneurial opportunities	
	AHP question: How is priority of these criteria?	
Commercially availability time	Modified Delphi method and Online questionnaires	
	Main question:	
	Estimate how many years from now,idea, will become an	
	accepted practice, i.e. commercially available.	
Entrepreneurial opportunities	Analytic Hierarchy Process	
	Question: How are pairwise comparisons of venturing ideas with	
	respect to screening criteria and goal (Decarbonization and zero	
	emission).	
variables affecting realization of these	se Online questionnaires	
opportunities	Open question: What is needed to make this opportunity happen?	
	Thematic analysis questionnaire	
	Question: How is sort of codes for each entrepreneurial opportunity	
	cluster? Please sort a set of codes for each entrepreneurial	
	opportunity cluster based on a corresponding binary symmetric	
	similarity matrix.	
Strategic variables	Influence-dependence questionnaire	
	Question: How a variable influences other variables and how other	
	variables influence it? (How likely is it that these two discrete variables	
	influence on one another? Each pair is rated on a scale of 0 to 3.)	
	0: No influence	
	1: Weak	
	2: Moderate influence	
	3: Strong influence	

Table 2.3 operationalization variables and concepts

## **Chapter 3 methodology**

This chapter introduces the research methods and different data gathering techniques used in this project, as to establish the validity of the results generated throughout the project.

## 3.1 Research method

There are four relevant research methods that has been used within this project; descriptive, applied, mixed and futures research.

Descriptive research is used to describe the characteristics of a population or phenomenon being studied (Mishra and Alok, 2017).

Applied research is a methodology used to solve a specific, practical issue affecting an individual or group. This scientific method of study and research is used in business, medicine, and education in order to find solutions that may improve health, solve scientific problems or develop new technology (Kothari, 2004). For this project, applied research has been used to identify entrepreneurial opportunities in the NSR and determination of their rating.

Mixed methods research is a methodology used to conduct research that involves collecting, analysing, and integrating quantitative (e.g., experiments, surveys) and qualitative (e.g., focus groups, interviews) research (Clark and Ivankova, 2016). The project has taken advantage of the mixed methods because the data collected is based on both qualitative and quantitative data collection techniques.

Futures research can be defined as a systematic study of possible future events and circumstances. (Sardar, 2010). This method has been used to identify when the opportunities will be realized in the future and which strategic variables effect on this realization.

## 3.2 Data collection

Figure 3.1 describes the methods used for data gathering. As seen in the figure, there are two different sources for data collection: primary and secondary sources.



## *Figure 3.1. Data collection methods* (Source: <u>https://worldsustainable.org/data-collection-tools/</u>)

Data and knowledge used in this report has been collected using a mixture of both data collection methods, field research (Primary sources) and desk research (Secondary sources). The primary data collection methods used in the field research has been interviews, group discussions and questionaries. And the secondary data collection methods used in the desk research has been a deep dive in the literature of entrepreneurial

opportunity identification and the potential opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR that have been identified so far. Table 3.1 shows the used data collection methods in this research.

Primary sources	Туре	Number	Secondary	Number
			sources	
Miro Brain storming (Venturing	Concept Mapping	15 experts	Maritime	110
ideas)			reports	
Miro Brain storming	Consensus	10 experts	Articles	50
(Idea screening criteria)				
AHP questionnaires	Matrix	10 Experts	Webpages	40
Periscope questionnaires	Online	Infrastructure 176		
		Shipbuilding 192		
		Technology 144		
AHP questionnaires	Matrix	10 Experts		
Thematic analysis questionnaire	Matrix	12 Experts		
Influence-dependence	Matrix	12 Experts		
questionnaire				

Table 3.1: The used data collection methods

The research started with a deep dive in potential opportunities (Venturing ideas) in the NSR's literature. 110 maritime reports, 50 papers and 40 web pages were reviewed. 222 venturing ideas were identified. (See appendix 1). 57 out of 222 venturing ideas are directly or indirectly related to decarbonization and zero emission. (See table 2.2). Then the theories underlying the thesis including literature of Entrepreneurship, opportunity, entrepreneurial opportunity definitions, opportunity identification models, entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation criteria were reviewed (chapter 2). Primary data was gathered through 2 virtual brainstorming, AHP questionnaires, Periscope questionnaires, Thematic analysis questionnaire, and influence -dependence questionnaire (Appendix 5). As the above table shows in answering the first research question, 15 experts invited to a Miro brain storming based on Concept Mapping process (see 3.4.1). In answering the second research question, 10 experts were invited to a Miro brain storming. Then they asked to complete an AHP questionnaire to priorate venturing idea screening criteria. In answering the third research question a questionnaire was uploaded for each venturing idea on https://periscopenetwork.eu/business-opportunities that in total completed by 176,192 and 144 respondents for infrastructural, shipbuilding and technological venturing ideas, respectively. In answering the fourth research question, 10 experts were asked to complete 12 AHP questionnaires to identify entrepreneurial opportunities among of venturing ideas that were previously identified in answer to question one. In answering the fifth research question, 12 experts were asked to answer the Thematic analysis questionnaires and finally in answering the sixth research question, an Influence-dependence questionnaire completed by 12 experts.

## 3.3. Statistical sampling

For answer to the research questionnaires and participant in the brain storming, statistical samples were selected. Table 3.2 shows sampling methods and number of samples for each interview and questionnaire.

Collection data tools	Statistical compline	Numbor
	Statistical sampling	Number
	method	
The first Miro brain storming	Snowball	15 experts
The second Miro brain storming	Convenience *	10 Experts
AHP questionnaires	Convenience	10 Experts
Periscope questionnaires	Snowball	Infrastructure: 176
		Shipbuilding:192
		Technology:144
AHP questionnaires	Convenience	10Experts
Thematic analysis questionnaire		12 Experts
	Convenience	
Influence-dependence	Convenience	12 Experts
questionnaire		

Table 3.2: Sampling methods and number of samples

\*Due to the COVID19 pandemic

#### 3.4 Data analysing methods.

Researcher addresses research questions by integrating knowledge from decarbonizing and zero emission, venturing ideas and entrepreneurial opportunity identification literature into 5 data analysing methods. (See table 2.3). More specifically, in the first step, Researcher describes key concepts and initial venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission, in the second step, uses concept mapping technique to identify the most likely venturing idea and cluster them. In the third step after a consensus with the experts about venturing ideas screening criteria, researcher uses AHP to rate the criteria, and in the fourth step, uses modified Delphi approach to estimate when venturing ideas will be commercially realized. In the fifth step, AHP analysis determines which venturing ideas based on the criteria can be an entrepreneurial opportunity. Researcher then, in sixth step, uses Qualitative research methodology to clarify the variables affecting realization of the Entrepreneurial opportunities, and the seventh step, uses Structural impact analysis to determine which variables are the strategic variables.

#### 3.4.1 Concept mapping

Concept mapping is an applied procedure, which was developed in the fields of educational, social, cognitive and management science to generate conceptual frameworks based on specific items. It is a stepwise approach in which statements are generated, rated, statistically analysed with several multivariate statistical analysis (multidimensional scaling and hierarchical cluster analysis), and finally interpreted. The method is used to create clarity, develop a model or to specify a conceptual framework. In most studies, the six steps of Trochim (1989) are used to define a framework or to specify a model. (See fig.3.2). (Trochim, 1999; Trochim et. al. 2003; Brenan, et al. 2012, Hassanzadeh 2015; Trochim, & Mclinden, 2016).



*Figure 3.2 Concept mapping process* (Adopted from: Trochim,2016)

## 3.4.2 Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP)

Analytic hierarchy process is a technique for decision making in complex environments in which many variables or criteria are considered in the prioritization and selection of alternatives or ideas. Thomas L. Saaty in the 1970s developed the AHP technique. (Vargas, 2010). The AHP uses alternatives and criteria and structures alternatives within a hierarchy of criteria for evaluation. Through pairwise comparison, AHP elicits ranking preference for alternatives and weighting preference for criteria using a scale from 1 to 9; higher scores indicating greater relative preference (Huang et al., 2011). Table 3.3 shows Saaty's Scale of Relative Importance.

Scalo	Numorical rating	Deciprocal
Scale	Numerical rating	Recipiocal
Extremely preferred	9	1/9
Very strong to extremely	8	1/8
Very strongly preferred	7	1/7
Strongly to very strongly	6	1/6
Strongly preferred	5	1/5
Moderately to strongly	4	1/4
Moderately preferred	3	1/3
Equally to moderately	2	1/2
Equally preferred	1	1

Source:(Saaty,2005)

Consistency Ratio (CR) has an axis role in the AHP and determine whether the decision makers have been consistent in their choices. (Vargas, 2010; Teknomo, 2006). The maximum CR can be 10%. (Saaty, 2005).

#### 3.4.3 Modified Delphi method

Delphi method was popularized after WWII by the RAND Corporation that worked with the US Department of War to determine when, for example, hydrogen bombs and intercontinental ballistic missile systems would be ready for deployment (Grime and Wright, 2016).

This method is modified for PERISCOPE, rather than ask the probability that a technological capability will be achieved at a future date, the lead question in the survey asks when the use-case vignette will become an accepted practice or viable alternative to the status quo. The time to accepted practice (Commercially available) is drawn from technology diffusion curves, where first iterations have been launched, validated, have received the necessary regulatory permissions to operate. Whereas Delphi surveys seek consensus, this format applies the logic of the wisdom of the crowds (Surowiecki, 2005), where the assumption that the median estimation will outperform the vast majority of individual estimations is made.

#### 3.4.4 Qualitative research

Since the aim of qualitative studies is to provide an accurate description of a real situation, such studies attempt to directly present the opinions of individual participants and to collect data through detailed and in-depth methods (Yıldırım & Şimşek,2008). In qualitative research, a theme (sometimes also termed "category") (Creswell &Poth 2018) is an element of data or sequence of words that can serve as a synoptic. A theme, therefore, is composed of coded data grouped together according to similarities or patterns.

#### 3.4.4.1 Trustworthiness

To ensure the results' trustworthiness, the author applied Kappa Coefficient and Stress Value. The kappa statistic is frequently used to test interrater reliability. The importance of rater reliability lies in the fact that it represents the extent to which the data collected in the study are correct representations of the variables measured. Measurement of the extent to which data collectors (raters) assign the same score to the same variable is called interrater reliability (McHugh,2012). According to Cohen's article, values  $\leq 0$  as indicating no agreement and 0.01–0.20 as none to slight, 0.21–0.40 as fair, 0.41– 0.60 as moderate, 0.61–0.80 as substantial, and 0.81–1.00 as almost perfect agreement (Cohen,1960). Many texts recommend 80% agreement as the minimum acceptable interrater agreement (McHugh,2012).

To be more confidence of the results, researcher also calculated the stress value. This research involving 12 participants (M=12), each of whom sorted a set of codes for each entrepreneurial opportunity cluster. For each sort, there is a corresponding binary symmetric similarity matrix, SNxN. These are aggregated into the total matrix, TNxN. This total matrix is the input to the Multi-Dimensional Scaling (MDS) analysis, which yields a two-dimensional XNx2 configuration. The Euclidean distances (in two dimensions) between all pairs of statements can be computed directly from the two-dimensional matrix, yielding a distance matrix DNxN where:(Trochim,1993).

$$D_{ij} = \sqrt{(X_{i1} - X_{j1})^2 + (X_{i2} - X_{j2})^2}$$

The stress value indicates the goodness of fit of the configurations, with lower stress values having a better fit. Previous analyses of the stress value suggest that desirable stress value is in a range from 0.155 to 0.352 (Brenan, et al. 2012).

## 3.4.5 Structural/ cross impact analysis

Cross-impact analysis is the general name given to a family of techniques designed to evaluate changes in the probability of the occurrence of a given set of events consequents on the actual occurrence of one of them (Bañuls, and Turoff,2011). For designing cross impact matrix of the key variables, structural/ cross impact analysis through a panel consisted of 12 experts is used, their aggregated opinions about variables' influences on each other was entered in the matrix. The matrix is analysed by MICMAC software. The Micmac allows participants to see the influence that one variable exercises on another through a third, a fourth, even a fifth. The direct and indirect influences of the variable represent the system the most realistically (Godet,2006).

## **Chapter 4 Data analysis**

The goal of the analysis of data is to create clarity to it and thus produce new information about the researched subject. This chapter answers research questions and provides insights into the future of the decarbonization and zero emission in the NSR.

# 4.1 Answer Question 1: What are venturing idea for decarbonizing and zero emission and their clustering in the NSR?

Based on the deep dive (See 2.3) initial venturing ideas for decarbonisation and zero emission in the NSR was extracted (Table 2.2). In answer to question 1, the researcher managed a virtual brainstorming by Miro. In the remote brainstorming were 15 participants (See table 4.1) and focus statement was: Venturing ideas for decarbonization and zero emission in the NSR. In the first step, Researcher described key concepts and research objectives, in the second step, shared the initial ideas with participants, and in the third step, Participants expressed their ideas in compliance with the rules of brainstorming and concept mapping (See 3.4.1). Then, in forth step, ideas were discussed. At this step, duplicate and unrelated ideas were removed, similar ideas were merged, and new ideas were added. (Table 4.2). The author, in fifth step, suggested some phrases for clustering, the participants discussed them and reached a consensus on the titles of the clusters., and in the sixth step, each of participant sorted the ideas into the clusters on their own.

For this analysis, The Concept System software was used. Figures 4.1 and 4.2 illustrate the results of the concept mapping.

Organization/ Job	Years of	Organization/Job	Years of
	experience		experience
Port of Aarhus	10	Hvide Sande Havn	7
Researcher at Aarhus university	8	MHI vestas offshore	14
Internest France	9	AERSEA AS Norway	7
Maersk	14	Researcher at Aarhus university	15
Researcher at Aarhus university	6	Researcher at Liverpool university	6
Dronequest	5	Ericsson Innovation Hub	11
Northsite	10	Researcher at Aarhus university	8
Stable – drone platform Norway	12		

Table 4.1	Participants	' demography
	i ui tioipuinto	aomography

Venturing Idea for decarbonization and zero emission		
1. Oil platform decommissioning	17.Solar-powered charging vessel	
2.Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	18. Composite bulk carrier hull	
(Electrifying oil and gas platform and Carbon		
Capture and Storage)		
3. Offshore maintenance drones	19. Renewable methanol vessels	
4.Smart ships (industry 04)	20.Tide-powered hydrogen vessels (Charging at	
	tidal plants)	
5. Offshore container terminal	21.Flying ships	
6.Sensor for efficient ship (Sensor system for	22.Thermal -powered platform	
collecting weather and traffic data from ships.)		
7. Offshore vessel charging stations	23.Lightweight containers	
8.Long-distance power transmission	24. Ice-class container vessel	
9. 100% Renewable energy vessels	25.Offshore logistics hub	
10.Ocean nanobots	26.Virtual arrival agreements	
11.Greener engines	27.Oilfield thermite plug	
12.Advanced ultra-efficient propeller designs	28.International MRV monitoring	
13. Microgrids at large ports	29.AI for cargo stowage (3D imaging of cargo	
	stowage areas)	
14. Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	30. Subsea drone charging platform	
15.Exhaust scrubber	31.Wind Park repurposing	
16. fully electric fish farm	32. Wind farms that move autonomously in the	
	ocean. (Roaming Autonomous Wind Farms)	





Figure 4.1: Venturing ideas' Point map





## Figure 4.2: Venturing ideas' cluster map

The point map (Figure 4.1) and cluster map (Figure 4.2) are the result of multivariate statistical analysis of corresponding binary symmetric similarity matrixes, SNxN. As mentioned in the third chapter, the stress value indicates the goodness of fit of the configurations, with lower stress values having a better fit. Previous analyses of the stress value suggest that desirable stress value is in a range from 0.155 to 0.352 (Brenan, et al. 2012). For this configuration of clusters, the stress value was 0.31, so it fell within the range, suggesting that the clusters in this study have a good fit.

As the above figures show clusters and their related venturing ideas are:

**Infrastructure**: Decommissioning optimization, Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets, Offshore container terminal, Offshore vessel charging stations, Microgrids at large ports, fully electric fish farm, Thermal -powered platform, Offshore logistics hub, Subsea drone charging platform, Wind Park repurposing, Roaming autonomous wind farms.

**Shipbuilding:** Smart ships (industry 04), Sensor for efficient ship (Sensor system for collecting weather and traffic data from ships.), 100% Renewable energy vessels, Greener engines, Advanced ultra-efficient propeller designs, Exhaust scrubber, Solar-powered charging vessel, Composite bulk carrier hull, Renewable methanol vessels, Tide-powered hydrogen vessels, Flying ships, Ice-class container vessel.

**Technology**: Offshore maintenance drones, Long-distance power transmission, Ocean nanobots, Charging at offshore wind parks/farms, Lightweight containers, Virtual arrival agreements, Oilfield thermite plug, International MRV monitoring, AI for cargo stowage.

## 4.2 Answer question 2: What are venturing ideas screening criteria in the NSR and how are their priority?

The literature review showed that there are no clear criteria for screening ideas to identify entrepreneurial opportunities. Therefore, in the second virtual brainstorming, researcher shared table 2.1 with the experts and asked them to discuss how can we identify entrepreneurial opportunities among of the 32 venturing ideas. (See table 4.1) After a scientific and professional discussion, the participants reached a consensus on the following criteria:

- 1. Creating value for the NSR.
- 2. The ability to solve emission problem and meet need to decarbonize and zero emission.
- 3. Commercially availability time.
- 4. Feasibility

But how is priority of these criteria? To answer this question, the author used GAHP (Group AHP). Figure 4.3 shows Hierarchy tree for priorate of the above criteria.



Figure 4.3 Criteria hierarchy tree

Based on the hierarchy tree, researcher formulated an AHP questionnaire (Appendix 2) and asked the experts to priorate the criteria base on the Saaty's scale (See chapter 3).

For this analysis, the expert choice software was used. Figure 4.4 illustrates the results of the AHP analysis.



Figure 4.4 Priority of venturing ideas screening criteria

As figure 4.4 shows, criteria "feasibility" and "the ability to solve emission problem" take precedence over criteria "creating value for the NSR" and "commercially availability time" to identification of entrepreneurial opportunity for decarbonization and zero emission.

The inconsistency rate is 0.0078 which is less than 0.1 (See 3.4.2), and shows the inconsistency is acceptable and we do not need to revise the subjective judgment.

In this research feasibility means ensuring an idea is legally and technically feasible as well as economically justifiable. It tells us whether an idea is worth the investment.

The ability to solve emission problem means the idea can meet need to decarbonize and zero emission in the NSR.

Creating value for the NSR means that an idea can help improve people's lives and sustain blue growth in the NSR.

Commercially availability time means when a venturing idea become an accepted practice and available to buy or use within a reasonable time at an ordinary commercial price in the future in the NSR.

## Therefore, in this thesis:

# Entrepreneurial opportunity = Idea + Feasibility + need + Value +Commercially availability time.

## 4.3 Answer question 3: When the venturing ideas will be realized?

Each of the 32 venturing ideas were then developed into use-case vignettes. Each of the use-case vignettes was then developed into a survey following the logic of a modified Delphi approach (See 3.4.3). Delphi surveys ask respondents to estimate when venturing ideas will be realized (Commercially available)?

A questionnaire was uploaded for each idea on https://periscope-network.eu/business-opportunities. (See Appendix 3).

The survey data are analysed to find the median estimation for the venturing idea. Median, rather than the mean (average), is used for this analysis to prevent skewness resulting from outliers. In the following sections, the author analysed the data based on each cluster. Figure 4.5 shows Realizing time for each venturing idea in each cluster.



Figure 4.5 Realizing time for each venturing idea in each cluster
# 4.3.1. Cluster 1: Infrastructure

Figure 4.5 and table 4.3 show predictions for infrastructural venturing ideas according to the median answer by respondents.

When asked for the time to commercially available i.e., accepted practice, the respondents had the options to choose "will never happen", or "here already", table 4.3 shows what percentage of respondents have chosen each of these options.

Venturing idea	Median (Year)	% Here	% Never happen
		already	
Decommissioning optimization	2032	0	15
Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	2031	5	3
Offshore container terminal	2030	4	19
Offshore vessel charging stations	2031	2	10
Microgrids at large ports	2030	0	0
Fully electric fish farm	2030	0	14
Thermal -powered platform	2035	4	8
Offshore logistics hub	2035	0	5
Subsea drone charging platform	2030	0	4
Wind Park repurposing	2030	9	9
Roaming autonomous wind farms	2033	4	15

Table 4.3 Predictions for infrastructural venturing ideas (N=176)

# 4.3.2. Cluster 2: Shipbuilding venturing ideas.

Figure 4.5 and table 4.4 show predictions for shipbuilding venturing ideas according to the median answer by respondents.

When asked for the time to commercially available i.e., accepted practice, the respondents had the options to choose "will never happen", or "here already", table 4.4 shows what percentage of respondents have chosen each of these options.

Table 4.4 Predictions for shipbuilding venturing ideas (N=192)

Venturing idea	Median (Year)	% Here already	% Never happen
Smart ships	2028	2	0
Sensor for efficient ship	2029	4	4
100% Renewable energy vessels	2034	3	5
Greener engines	2031	8	6
Advanced ultra-efficient propeller designs	2025	10	0
Exhaust scrubber	2023	20	0
Solar-powered charging vessel	2035	5	10
Composite bulk carrier hull	2029	14	0
Renewable methanol vessels	2031	0	0
Tide-powered hydrogen vessels	2035	6	9
Flying ships	2031	6	6
Ice-class container	2030	0	17

# 4.3.3. cluster 3: Technological venturing ideas

Figure 4.5 and table 4.5 show predictions for technological venturing ideas according to the median answer by respondents.

When asked for the time to commercially available i.e., accepted practice, the respondents had the option to choose "will never happen", or "here already", table 4.5 shows what percentage of respondents have chosen each of these options.

Venturing idea	Median (Year)	% Here already	% Never happen
Offshore maintenance drones	2028	0	0
Long-distance power transmission	2032	1	8
Ocean nanobots	2034	1	10
Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	2027	4	4
Lightweight containers	2030	5	5
Virtual arrival agreements	2025	0	0
Oilfield thermite plug	2030	4	4
International MRV monitoring	2026	8	13
AI for cargo stowage	2025	0	0

Table 4.5 Predictions for technological venturing ideas (N=144)

# 4.4 Answer question 4: What are Entrepreneurial opportunities in the NSR in each cluster?

In answer to question 4, the researcher used GAHP. Following sections show entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonization and zero emission in the NSR.

# 4.4.1 Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities

To identify these opportunities, the researcher asked 10 experts to complete four AHP questionnaires based on the following hierarchy tree.



Figure 4.6 Infrastructural cluster hierarchy tree

For this analysis, the expert choice software was used. Figure 4.7 illustrates the results of the AHP analysis.

Synthesis with respect to: Goal: Decarbonization and zero emission



Overall Inconsistency = .02



The inconsistency rate is 0.02 which is less than 0.1 (See 3.4.2), and shows the inconsistency is acceptable and we do not need to revise the subjective judgment.

The result was sent to the experts; the experts then came together with researcher to discuss again each of the priority. In all, 2 interviews were made, and the following infrastructure entrepreneurial opportunities were identified:1. Microgrids at large ports,2. Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets,3. Wind Park repurposing,4. Fully electric fish farm, 5. Offshore vessel charging stations

# 4.4.2 Shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

To identify these opportunities, the researcher asked experts to complete an AHP questionnaire based on the following hierarchy tree.





For AHP analysis, the expert choice software was used. Figure 4.9 illustrates the results of this analysis.

#### Synthesis: Summary

Synthesis with respect to: Goal: Decarbonization and zero emission





The inconsistency rate is 0.01 which is less than 0.1 (See 3.4.2), and shows the inconsistency is acceptable and we do not need to revise the subjective judgment.

The result was sent to the experts; the experts then came together with researcher to discuss again each of the priority. In all, 2 interviews were made, and the following shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities were identified:1. Exhaust scrubber,2. Solar-powered charging vessel, 3. Renewable methanol vessels,4.100% Renewable energy vessels,5. Tide-powered hydrogen vessels

## 4.4.3 Technology entrepreneurial opportunities

To identify these opportunities, the researcher asked experts to complete four AHP questionnaires based on the following hierarchy tree.



Figure 4.10 Technology cluster hierarchy tree

For AHP analysis, the expert choice software was used. Figure 4.11 illustrates the results of this analysis.

## Synthesis: Summary

Synthesis with respect to: Gioal: Decarbonization and zero emission



Overall Inconsistency = .01

Figure 4.11 Priority of technological venturing ideas based on the screening criteria

The inconsistency rate is 0.01 which is less than 0.1 (See 3.4.2), and shows the inconsistency is acceptable and we do not need to revise the subjective judgment.

The result was sent to the experts; the experts then came together with researcher to discuss again each of the priority. In all, 2 interviews were made, and the following technological entrepreneurial opportunities were identified: 1. Charging at offshore wind parks/farms,2. Virtual arrival agreements,3.AI for cargo stowage,4. International MRV monitoring,5. Offshore maintenance drones.

### 4.5 Answer question 5: What are the variables affecting realization of these opportunities?

Following the question about the forecast to commercially availability time, the second question in the survey was open-ended, and asked the respondent "what is needed to make this opportunity happen?" For analysing of this question, the author performed an inductive qualitative data analysis using MAXQDA V.18. A four-step strategy was used to qualitatively analyse this data (Tutty, Rothery, & Grinnell, 1996). First step involved identifying codes from the respondents' answers to the open question. In the second step, the codes were sorted and placed in their emergent categories, and the categories were analysed for themes. Then researcher sent the codes and themes to 12 experts in Maritime studies (See appendix 4), the identified themes are:

1.political ,2. Economic,3. Social,4. Technological,5. Environmental

In the third step, the themes were examined for trustworthiness. For this, author applied Kappa Coefficient and Stress Value. (See 3.4.4.1). Table 4.6 shows trustworthiness for each cluster.

In the fourth step, based on trustworthiness of identified codes and themes, the data of the research were analysed using MAXQDA 18 and a diagram was constructed to illustrate the codes and themes found in the data for each cluster. And finally, these themes, related codes, and their frequencies are shown in a table.

Cluster	Kappa Coefficient*	Stress Value**	Result
1.Infrastructural opportunities	91.11	0.248	Perfect agreement/fit
2. Shipbuilding opportunities	93.12	0.267	Perfect agreement/fit
3. Technological opportunities	92.10	0.225	Perfect agreement/fit

Table 4.6: Trustworthiness for entrepreneurial opportunities clusters

\* According to Cohen's original article, values ≤ 0 as indicating no agreement and 0.01–0.20 as none to slight, 0.21–0.40 as fair, 0.41– 0.60 as moderate, 0.61–0.80 as substantial, and 0.81–1.00 as almost perfect agreement. (Cohen,1960). Many texts recommend 80% agreement as the minimum acceptable interrater agreement. (McHugh,2012)

\*\* Desirable stress value is in a range from 0.155 to 0.352 (Brenan, et al. 2012).

# 4.5.1 What are the variables affecting realization of Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities?

Table 4.7 shows codes for these opportunities.

Code	All coded Code		All coded
	segments		segments
Environmental management forces	3	Capacity	2
Financially viable	1	Demand	2
Value of product	4	Technology improvement	1
Financial incentives	3	Technology acceptance	4
Cultural shift	1	Cost	11
Collaboration	13	Investment	13
Human factor	2	Legislation	3
Enhance performance	2	Industry regulation	4
Safety	2	Government	13
Environmentally friendly	7	New rules	1
Location planning	4	Government enforcement	5
Installation	5	International laws	1
R&D	5	Monitoring	1
Knowledge	7	Technical aspects	4
Total		124	

Table 4.7: Codes for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities

As table 4.6 shows, in this research with 12 experts, overall agreement is 91.11% and it means there is almost perfect agreement between the experts. Moreover, for this cluster, the stress value is 0.248, so it fell within the range, suggesting that the themes in this study have a good fit. Figure 4.12 shows Themes and related codes based on MAXQDA analysis.



*Figure 4.12: Themes and related codes for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities* Themes, related codes, and their frequencies are shown in table 4.8.

Table 4.8: Themes and related codes free	quency - Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities
--	--

Themes	Codes	Frequency
	Legislation	3
Political	Government	13
(28)	New rules	1
	Industry regulation	4
	Government enforcement	5
	Monitoring	1
	International laws	1
	Value of product	4
	Investment	13
Economic	Cost	11
(38)	capacity	2
	Demand	2
	Financially viable	1
	Financial incentives	3
	Enhance performance	2
Social	Knowledge	7
(23)	Collaboration	13
	Cultural shift	1
	Human factor	2
	Technology improvement	1
	R&D	5

Themes	Codes	Frequency
Technological	Technology acceptance	4
(25)	Technical aspects	4
	safety	2
	Location planning	4
	Installation	5
Environmental	Environmentally friendly	7
(10)	Environmental management forces	3

# 4.5.2 What are the variables affecting realization of shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities?

Table 4.9 shows codes for these opportunities.

Code	All coded Code		All coded
	segments		segments
Environmental aspect	2	Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS)	3
Technical aspects	31	R&D	6
Awareness	5	Financial incentives	4
Risk analysis	2	collaboration	3
Safety	11	Government incentives	10
Environment management	2	Storage technology	4
Demand	3	Dual fuel combustion	2
Investment	18	Energy storage capabilities	11
cost	23	Training of crews	1
Government	13	Economic feasibility study	3
legislation	2	Alteration of ship	5
Process management	3	Renewable energy accessibility	4
New rules	2		
Total		173	1

Table 4.9: Codes for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

As table 4.6 shows, in this research with 12 experts, overall agreement is 93.12% and it means there is almost perfect agreement between the experts. Moreover, for this cluster, the stress value is 0.267, so it fell within the range, suggesting that the themes in this study have a good fit. Figure 4.13 shows Themes and related codes based on MAXQDA analysis.



Figure 4.13: Themes and related codes for *shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities* Themes, related codes, and their frequencies are shown in table 4.10.

Themes	Codes	Frequency
	New rules	2
Political	Government	13
(30)	Renewable portfolio standard (RPS)	3
	Government incentives	10
	Legislation	2
	Risk analysis	2
	Investment	18
Economic	Cost	23
(53)	Financial incentive	4
	Demand	3
	Economic feasibility study	3
Social	Awareness	5
(9)	Collaboration	3
	Training of crews	1
	Renewable energy accessibility	4
	Technical aspects	31
Technological	Alteration of ship	5
(77)	Storage technology	4
	Dual fuel combustion	2
	Process management	3
	Energy storage capabilities	11

 Table 4.10: Themes and related codes shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

Themes	Codes	Frequency
	R&D	6
	Safety	11
Environmental	Environmental aspect	2
(4)	Environmental management	2

# 4.5.3. What are the variables affecting realization of technological entrepreneurial opportunities?

Table 4.11 shows codes for these opportunities.

Table 4.11: Codes for technological entrepreneurial opportunities

Code	All coded Code		All coded
	segments		segments
Environmental aspect	1	General agreement	9
Infrastructure	2	Test of the platform	4
Awareness	2	The NSR regulations	9
Risk analysis	2	Technical aspects	13
Safety	7	Industry 4.0	3
Environmental management	2	Government enforces	5
Financial incentive	2	Communication infrastructure	3
Demand	2	Profit	3
Investment	8	Collaboration	4
Standards	8	Technological advancement	12
Cost	13	R&D	1
Government	3	Financially viable	1
legislation	3	Reliability	1
Total		123	

As table 4.6 shows, in this research with 12 experts, overall agreement is 92.10% and it means there is almost perfect agreement between the experts. Moreover, for this cluster, the stress value is 0.225, so it fell within the range, suggesting that the themes in this study have a good fit. Figure 4.14 shows Themes and related codes based on MAXQDA analysis.

Themes, related codes, and their frequencies are shown in table 4.12.



*Figure 4.14: Themes and related codes for technological entrepreneurial opportunities Table 4.12: Themes and related codes frequency – Technological entrepreneurial opportunities* 

Themes	Codes	Frequency
	Government	3
Political	Legislation	3
(37)	Government enforces	5
	The NSR regulations	9
	Standards	8
	General agreement	9
	Investment	8
	Risk analysis	2
Economic	Financial incentive	2
(31)	Demand	2
	Financially viable	1
	Profit	3
	Cost	13
Social	Collaboration	4
(6)	Awareness	2
	Industry 4.0	3
	Infrastructure	2
	Reliability	1
Technological	Test of the platform	4
(46)	R & D	1
	Safety	7
	Technological advancement	12

Themes	Codes	Frequency
	Technical aspects	13
	Communication infrastructure	3
Environmental	Environmental management	2
(3)	Environmental aspects	1

### 4.5.4. Answer research question 4- An overall analysis

Table 4.13 shows frequency of initial variables (Codes) for each cluster per themes.

Theme	Infrastructure	Shipbuilding	Technology	Total
Political	28	30	37	95
Economic	38	53	31	122
Social	23	9	6	38
Technological	25	77	46	148
Environmental	10	4	3	17
Total	124	173	123	420

Table 4.13. Frequency of variables(codes) and subcodes for each cluster

As the above table shows respondents (See table 4.2) believe Technological, Economic, Political, Social and Environmental variable respectively affecting realization of the entrepreneurial opportunities.



Figure 4.15 Distribution of comments for all entrepreneurial opportunities

The distribution of the comments among the 5 themes is depicted in Figure 4.15 above. This figure shows that only 4% of the comments were related to environmental factors, while only 9% and 23% were related to social and political variables, respectively. This reflects how the respondents to a limited degree consider these variables relevant in the development and implementation of the entrepreneurial opportunities. However, the respondents seem to consider technological and economic variables the main challenges related to these entrepreneurial opportunities, as these make up 35% and 29% respectively, adding up to more than two thirds of all comments. But which variables are the strategic (key) variables? Next section answers this question.

#### 4.6 Answer question 6: Which variables are the strategic (key) variables?

In answer to question 5, the researcher identified 420 initial variables. 341 out of 420 variables were iterative or had similar meanings. By merging these variables, 79 variables (codes) identified and categorized to 5 dimensions (Themes). In answer to sixth question the author wants to reduce the complexity and detecting which are the strategic (key) variables that should be studied first in each opportunity, and then across all opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission. Structural analysis and MicMac software were used to identify key variables (See 3.4.5). Micmac's object is to identify the most influential variables and more dependent (the key variables), by building a typology of variables in direct and indirect classification. (Godet, 2007). For this, an Influence-dependence questionnaire was used (Rabbani, 2012). An Influence-dependence questionnaire shows how a variable influences other variables and how other variables influence it. The questionnaire was then sent to the 12 experts who then completed it for each cluster. In structural analysis, each variable is assessed pairwise with all the other variables. The assessment criteria ask: How likely is it that these two discrete variables influence on one another? Each pair is rated on a scale of 0 to 3.

The structure analysis is completed across all the variables for each cluster. Table 4.14 shows Matrix of Direct Influences (MDI) characteristics. This table presents the number of 0,1,2,3 of the matrix and shows the rate of filling calculated as a ratio between the number of MDI values different from 0 and the total number of elements of the matrix.

Indicator	VALUE	VALUE	VALUE
	Infrastructure	Shipbuilding	Technology
Matrix size	28	25	26
Number of iterations	2	2	2
Number of zeros	107	119	83
Number of ones	223	195	155
Number of twos	345	263	374
Number of threes	109	48	64
Total	677	506	593
Fillrate	86.35204%	80.96%	87.72189%

Table 4.14 MDI characteristics



Figure 4.16 variables plane (Source: Godet 2006)

As figure 4.16 shows, this map consists of 4 sections. The placement of variables in different sections of the map is based on mathematical and quantitative relationships, and the position of the variables within the four sections of the coordinate grid(plane) itself can also indicate the status of the variables in the system (Godet,2006, Rabbani 2012, and Villacotra,2014).

# 1.Relay variables

Relay variables have the characteristics of being highly influential on other variables and also being highly dependent on other variables. Hence, they relay change and are associated with instability, as any action on or from these variables will lead to a change or reaction on other variables, respectively. Relay variables are the strategic or key variables and are located in the top right corner of the graph (zone 1 of the coordinate plane). The variables situated on or close to the diagonal and allocates a certain degree of leverage depending on the distance to the origin. The further the distance from the center, the higher the leverage or "multiplier effect" and the more strategic the variable is in the system. In turn, the more strategic a variable is, the more receptive it is to influence from other variables, and thus the less stable the variable becomes (Serrano, 2015). These variables can be divided into two categories: Stake (risk) variables and target variables (Godet, 2006; Rabani 2012; Serrano, 2015; Villacotra, 2014).

## 1.1. Stake (Risk) variables

These variables are located around and above the diagonal line in the top right corner and have a very high capacity to become key variables in the system. Stake (Risk) variables should be carefully analysed and considered when planning intervention (Serrano, 2015).

### 1.2. Target variables

These variables are located below the north-eastern diagonal area of the plane and represent outcome targets of the system. By manipulating and making changes to these variables, it is possible to achieve system evolution according to its plan and purpose.

### 2.Influential variables

These variables are variables that have high influence on other variables but are less influenced by other variables themselves (Serrano, 2015). Identifying and manipulating these variables can result in system changes, but are primarily external to the system (Godet, 2006).

### 3.Dependent variables

These variables are in the bottom right section of the plane and can also be called output variables. These have little influence on the others but are subject to strong pressures themselves.

### 4. Independent variables

These variables have low influence and low dependence and are in the bottom left part of the plane. Due to the nature of system instability, it seems that some of these variables are excluded variables and should therefore be referred to as independent excluded variables.

# 4.6.1. Key variables for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities

As table 4.7 shows there are 28 variables that affecting realization of Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities. The structure analysis is completed across all the variables.

As table 4.14 shows Matrix size for first cluster is 28\*28 and its fillrate with 2 iterations is 86.35%.

which shows that the variables have a large and scattered influence on each other, and the state of the system is unstable. 107 of the matrix cells (matrix relationships) are zero, which means that these factors

have not influenced each other. On the other hand, the matrix based on statistical indicators with 2 iterations converge towards 100% stability, which indicates the high validity of the matrix. (See table 4.15). *Table 4.15 MDI stability- Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities* 

Iteration	Influence	Dependence
1	99 %	95 %
2	100 %	100 %

Figure 4.17 shows direct influence/dependence map. In the analysis of the map, the following variables can be identified in the system.



Figure 4.17: Direct influence/dependence map for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities Table 4.16: Variable types for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities

Themes	Variables	Туре
	Legislation	Influential
	Government	Influential
	New rules	Relay-Target
Political	Industry regulation	Relay-Target
	Government enforcement	Relay-Risk
	Monitoring	Dependent
	International laws	Influential
	Value of product	Relay-Target
	Value of product Investment	Relay-Target Relay-Target
	Value of product Investment Cost	Relay-Target Relay-Target Relay-Target
Economic	Value of product Investment Cost capacity	Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Dependent
Economic	Value of product Investment Cost capacity Demand	Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Dependent         Relay-Target
Economic	Value of product Investment Cost capacity Demand Financially viable	Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Dependent         Relay-Target         Dependent         Dependent
Economic	Value of product Investment Cost Capacity Demand Financially viable Financial incentives	Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Dependent         Relay-Target         Dependent         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target         Relay-Target

Themes	Variables	Туре
	Knowledge	Independent
Social	Collaboration	Relay-Target
	Cultural shift	Dependent
	Human factor	Independent
	Technology improvement	Dependent
	R&D	Relay-Target
	Technology acceptance	Relay-Target
Technological	Technical aspects	Relay-Target
	safety	Relay-Target
	Location planning	Dependent
	Installation	Dependent
	Environmentally friendly	Influential
Environmental	Environmental management forces	Influential

As figure 4.17 and table 4.16 show key variables affecting realization of Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities are:

New rules, Industry regulation, Government enforcement, Value of product, Investment, Cost, Demand, Financial incentives, Collaboration, R&D, Technology acceptance, Technical aspects, safety.

Figure 4.18 shows direct influence graph for all variables in Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities. Direct influence graph



- Weak influences Moderate influences Relatively strong influences Strongest influences

# Figure 4.18: Direct influence graph for Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities

# 4.6.2. Key variables for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

As table 4.9 shows there are 25 variables that affecting realization of shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities. The structure analysis is completed across all the variables.

As table 4.14 shows Matrix size for second cluster is 25\*25 and its fillrate with 2 iterations is 80.96%. which shows that the variables have a large and scattered influence on each other, and the state of the system is unstable. 119 of the matrix cells (matrix relationships) are zero, which means that these factors have not influenced each other. On the other hand, the matrix based on statistical indicators with 2 iterations converge towards 100% stability, which indicates the high validity of the matrix. (See table 4.17).

,	1 5	•
Iteration	Influence	Dependence
1	96 %	92 %
2	99 %	100 %

Table 4.17 MDI stability- Shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

Figure 4.19 shows direct influence/dependence map. In the analysis of the map, the following variables can be identified in the system.



Figure 4.19: Direct influence/dependence map for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities Table 4.18: Variable types for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

Themes	Variables	Туре
	New rules	Independent
Political	Government	Influential
	Renewable portfolio standard (RPS)	Influential
	Government incentives	Relay-Risk
	Legislation	Independent
	Risk analysis	Dependent
	Investment	Relay-Target
Economic	Cost	Dependent
	Financial incentive	Relay-Target
	Demand	Relay-Target
	Economic feasibility study	Independent
	Awareness	Independent
Social	Collaboration	Relay-Risk
	Training of crews	Independent

Themes	Variables	Туре
	Renewable energy accessibility	Dependent
	Technical aspects	Relay-Risk
Technological	Alteration of ship	Relay-Target
	Storage technology	Influential
	Dual fuel combustion	Influential
	Process management	Independent
	Energy storage capabilities	Influential
	R&D	Relay-Target
	Safety	Relay-Risk
Environmental	Environmental aspect	Influential
	Environmental management	Influential

As figure 4.19 and table 4.18 show key variables affecting realization of the shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities are:

Government incentives, Investment, Financial incentive, Demand, Collaboration, Technical aspects, Alteration of ship, R&D and Safety.

Figure 4.20 shows direct influence graph for all variables in the shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities.



Relatively strong influences
 Strongest influences

# Figure 4.20 Direct influence graph for shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

# 4.6.3. Key variables for technological entrepreneurial opportunities:

As table 4-11 shows there are 26 variables that affecting realization of the technological entrepreneurial opportunities. The structure analysis is completed across all the variables.

As table 4.14 shows Matrix size for third cluster is 26\*26 and its fillrate with 2 iterations is 87.72%. which shows that the variables have a large and scattered influence on each other, and the state of the system is unstable. 83 of the matrix cells (matrix relationships) are zero, which means that these factors have not

influenced each other. On the other hand, the matrix based on statistical indicators with 2 iterations converge towards 100% stability, which indicates the high validity of the matrix. (See table 4.19).

Iteration	Influence	Dependence
1	94 %	95 %
2	100 %	100 %

Table 4.19 MDI stability- Technological entrepreneurial opportunities

Figure 4.21 shows direct influence/dependence map. In the analysis of the map, the following variables can be identified in the system.



Figure 4.21: Direct influence/dependence map for technological entrepreneurial opportunities Table 4.20: Variable types in the Technological entrepreneurial opportunities

Themes	Variables	Туре
	Government	Influential
Political	Legislation	Influential
	Government enforces	Relay-Risk
	The NSR regulations	Relay-Risk
	Standards	Relay-Risk
	General agreement	Relay-Target
	Investment	Relay-Target
	Risk analysis	Dependent
Economic	Financial incentive	Relay-Target
	Demand	Relay-Target
	Financially viable	Influential
	Profit	Dependent
	Cost	Relay-Target

Themes	Variables	Туре
	Collaboration	Relay-Target
Social	Awareness	Independent
	Industry 4.0	Dependent
	Infrastructure	Dependent
	Reliability	Independent
Technological	Test of the platform	Independent
	R & D	Relay-Target
	Safety	Relay-Target
	Technological advancement	Relay-Target
	Technical aspects	Relay-Target
	Communication infrastructure	Relay-Target
	Environmental management	Influential
Environmental	Environmental aspects	Influential

As figure 4.21 and table 4.20 show key variables affecting realization of the technological entrepreneurial opportunities are:

Government enforces, The NSR regulations, Standards, General agreement, Investment, Financial incentive, Demand, Cost, Collaboration, R&D, Safety, Technological advancement, Technical aspects, Communication infrastructure.

Figure 4.22 shows direct influence graph for all variables in the technological entrepreneurial opportunities.



Weak est influences Weak influences Moderate influences Relatively strong influences Strongest influences

Figure 4.22: Direct influence graph for technological entrepreneurial opportunities

# Chapter 5 Results, Discussion, and conclusion

Activities in the North Sea Region are expected to intensify, diversify, and expand further offshore. One way to make use of the increased offshore activities is to decarbonise and zero emission the large industries of the sea, including shipping and service activities. Decarbonizing and zero emission have provided a new context for sustainability and blue growth in the NSR.

Chapter 5 aims to provide summary of key findings, implications, limitations, and recommendations. This chapter focuses on explaining and evaluating what was found in the study and how it relates to literature, and research questions. The research started with a deep dive in potential opportunities (Venturing ideas) in the NSR's literature. 110 maritime reports, 50 papers and 40 web pages were reviewed. 222 venturing ideas were identified. (See Appendix 1). 57 out of 222 venturing ideas were directly or indirectly related to decarbonization and zero emission (See table 2.2). Then literature of entrepreneurship, opportunity, entrepreneurial opportunity definitions, opportunity identification models, entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation criteria were reviewed (Chapter 2). Primary data was gathered through 2 virtual brainstorming, AHP questionnaires, Periscope questionnaires, Thematic analysis questionnaire, and influence -dependence questionnaire (Appendix 2,3,4, and 5).

# 5.1 Study findings that answer question one: What are venturing idea for decarbonizing and zero emission and their clustering in the NSR?

In answering question one, the literature review showed (Chapter2), there are 57 venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission in the NSR. A concept mapping analysis with 15 participants with a fit stress value showed 32 out of 57 venturing idea are more plausible. The participants, then, clustered 32 venturing idea into 3 clusters:

**Infrastructure**: Decommissioning optimization, Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets, Offshore container terminal, Offshore vessel charging stations, Microgrids at large ports, fully electric fish farm, Thermal -powered platform, Offshore logistics hub, Subsea drone charging platform, Wind park repurposing, Roaming autonomous wind farms.

**Shipbuilding:** Smart ships (industry 04), Sensor for efficient ship (Sensor system for collecting weather and traffic data from ships.), 100% Renewable energy vessels, Greener engines, Advanced ultra-efficient propeller designs, Exhaust scrubber, Solar-powered charging vessel, Composite bulk carrier hull, Renewable methanol vessels, Tide-powered hydrogen vessels, Flying ships, Ice-class container vessel.

**Technology**: Offshore maintenance drones, Long-distance power transmission, Ocean nanobots, Charging at offshore wind parks/farms, Lightweight containers, Virtual arrival agreements, Oilfield thermite plug, International MRV monitoring, AI for cargo stowage.

# 5.2 Study findings that answer question two: What are venturing ideas screening criteria in the NSR and how are their priority?

In answering question two, since the literature review showed that there are no clear criteria for screening ideas to identify entrepreneurial opportunities, the author and 15 experts in a virtual brainstorming by Miro reached a consensus on the following criteria (Table 5.1). The criteria, then, prioritized by AHP with an acceptable inconsistency rate.

Priority	venturing ideas screening criteria	Weight
1	Feasibility	0.363
2	The ability to solve emission problem	0.326
3	Creating value for the NSR	0.163
4	Commercially availability time	0.148
	0.0078	

## 5.1 Priority of venturing ideas screening criteria

Based on this result, entrepreneurial opportunity formula in this thesis defined as follow:

# Entrepreneurial opportunity = Idea + Feasibility + need + Value +Commercially availability time.

Based on this formula, entrepreneurial opportunities can be identified using MODM (Multi Objective Decision Making), MCDM (Multi Criteria Decision Making) and DEA (Data Envelopment Analysis).

For this, the author used AHP in this study, but researchers in the future research can use other techniques mentioned above.

The use of this formula and AHP required identifying the time of venturing idea realization. Are those already here or be realized in the future? The author has answered this question in the next section.

# 5.3 Study findings that answer question three: When the venturing ideas will be realized?

Each of the 32 venturing ideas were then developed into use-case vignettes. Each of the use-case vignettes was then developed into a survey following the logic of a modified Delphi approach (See 3.4.3 and 4.3) The survey data are analysed by SPSS to find the median estimation for the venturing ideas. Table 5.2 shows the year estimated for each venturing idea.

# 5.4 Study findings that answer question four: What are Entrepreneurial opportunities in the NSR in each cluster?

In answering question four, the author used GAHP. To identify entrepreneurial opportunities, the researcher asked 10 experts to complete 12(3 cluster\* 4 criteria) AHP questionnaires. Table 5.3 shows the results of AHP analysis based on Expert Choice software outputs and 2 consensus interviews with the experts.

Cluster	Idea	<b>Estimated</b>	Cluster	Idea	<b>Estimated</b>
		year			year
Infrastructural venturing ideas	Offshore container terminal	2030		Ice-class container	2030
	Microgrids at large ports	2030		Flying ships	2031
	Fully electric fish farm	2030		Renewable methanol	2031
			as	vessels	
	Subsea drone charging platform	2030	Shipbuildinç Venturing ide	Greener engines	2031
	Wind Park repurposing	2030		100% Renewable energy	2034
				vessels	
	Prolonging life O&G assets	2031		Solar-powered charging	2035
				vessel	
	Offshore vessel charging stations	2031		Tide-powered hydrogen	2035
				vessels	
	Decommissioning optimization	2032		Virtual arrival agreements	2025
	Roaming autonomous wind farms	2033	al venturing ideas	AI for cargo stowage	2025
	Thermal -powered platform	2035		Intl. MRV monitoring	2026
	Offshore logistics hub	2035		Charging at offshore wind	2027
				parks/farms	
Shipbuilding Venturing ideas	Exhaust scrubber	2023		Offshore maintenance	2028
				drones	
	Advanced ultra-efficient propeller	2025	ogica	Lightweight containers	2030
	designs		Jolo		
	Smart ships 2028		Oilfield thermite plug	2030	
	Sensor for efficient ship	2029	Ĕ	Long-distance power	2032
				transmission	
	Composite bulk carrier hull	2029		Ocean nanobots	2034

# Table 5.2Estimated year for each venturing idea

As the table 5.2 shows there are 15 entrepreneurial opportunities in the NSR that are feasible, have ability to solve emission problem and meet need to decarbonization, can create value for the NSR and have an acceptable commercially availability time.

Realization of these opportunities is not easy as it seems. Beyond the market problems, there are a host of technological and non-technological challenges. Realizing some of these opportunities requires installing structures on and below the surface of the water and it is costly and dangerous, and operating infrastructure at sea involves challenges different on land, such as the increased effects of harsh weather and sea state conditions, as well as the problems with effects of vibrations on machines and the oxidation and corrosion of both large and small metallic components due to salt as described in detail in the book Rust: The Longest War (Weldman, 2015). Realizing some other requires international agreement, governments collaboration, investment, and new rules.

Therefore, it is necessary to identify the variables affecting realization of these opportunities.

Cluster	Eluster Entrepreneurial opportunity	
Infrastructural venturing ideas	Microgrids at large ports	0.117
	Prolonging life and repurposing O&G assets	0.116
	Wind Park repurposing	0.114
	Fully electric fish farm	0.094
	Offshore vessel charging stations	0.092
	0.02	
) as	Exhaust scrubber	0.125
hipbuilding nturing ide:	Solar-powered charging vessel	0.095
	Renewable methanol vessels	0.088
	100% Renewable energy vessels	0.087
S Ve	Tide-powered hydrogen vessels	0.087
	0.01	
(	Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	0.155
Technological venturing ideas	Virtual arrival agreements	0.131
	AI for cargo stowage	0.122
	International MRV monitoring	0.119
	Offshore maintenance drones	0.108
	0.01	

Table 5.3 Entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission

# 5.5 Study findings that answer question five: What are the variables affecting realization of these opportunities?

For analysing of this question, the author performed an inductive qualitative data analysis using MAXQDA V.18 and applied Kappa Coefficient and Stress Value for trustworthiness (chapter 4).

In total 420 initial variables (codes) identified. 341 out of 420 variables were iterative or had similar meanings. By merging these variables, 79 variables (codes) identified and categorized to 5 dimensions (Themes). Infrastructure, shipbuilding, and technology clusters have 28, 25 and 26 variables, respectively. Among the political variables especially a need for subsidies and support to entrepreneurs are pointed out to make the opportunities possible, as one of the current challenges currently seem to be low costs for fossil fuels. This required political motivation to change but face an uphill battle against entrenched interests in maintaining the status quo. New international law and collaboration of the NSR governments can also help realize these entrepreneurial opportunities. While social pressure to decarbonizing and zero emission is strong, an increase the collaboration between entrepreneurs, shipbuilding companies and governments will facilitate realizing of the opportunities. Profitability of these opportunities is necessary if it is to be a sustainable investment. Financial incentives can encourage entrepreneurs to invest. Meanwhile in technology dimension, concerns over safety and the harsh weather conditions on the North Sea point toward needs for increased automation of operations. Renewable energy accessibility and energy storage capabilities can help to acceptance of the opportunities.

## 5.6 Study findings that answer question six: Which variables are the key (Strategic)variables?

In answering question six, Structural analysis and Micmac software was used. This analysis enables governments, entrepreneurs, and other key players in the maritime and marine to identify the interactions and mutual dependencies of the variables that influence the future of maritime ecosystem. Structural analysis also helps identify key variables according to their role as a driver or lever and their impact on the system. (Godet 2006).

This analysis showed 36 out of 79 identified variables are strategic (key) variables, because those are controllable by the system and have an acceptable impact on the system. These variables for each cluster are depicted in Figure 5.1 below. 13 out of 28 variables in infrastructure cluster, 9 out 0f 25 variables in shipbuilding cluster and 14 out of 26 variables in technology cluster are strategic variables.

Since these variables are the strategic variables any kind of improvement on them can improve other variables and it can help to realization of the opportunities.



### Figure 5.1 Strategic variable affecting realization of the opportunities

As the above figure shows realization of the opportunities requires financial and non-financial support for entrepreneurs. Government enforces and incentives have a vital role in this process. Financial incentives for investment and cost management are very important. Increase collaboration between governments, entrepreneurs, shipbuilding companies and maritime industries in the NSR and attention to technical and safety aspects can lead to the acceptance of new infrastructures, new ships, and new technologies for decarbonization and zero emissions.

# 5.7 Discussion and recommendation for each cluster

## 5.7.1 Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities

This cluster includes microgrids at large ports, prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets, wind park repurposing, fully electric fish farm and offshore vessel charging stations.

Ports are the sites of major pollution, where large vessels continue to run their engines even while at berth, and heavy-lifting work is being performed by diesel-powered cranes (Moya et.al 2019 and Villalba et.al 2011). As the maritime industry explores ways to decarbonize, microgrids that at ports can play a supplementary role to existing electric grids with an enhanced energy storage system. The global microgrid market is growing at annual rate of 11.26% and projected to reach \$46bn by 2025. (Misra et. Al 2017).

Prolonging the life of an asset means keeping it in production for longer. Electrification is one option which could help achieve this while reducing the CO2 emissions of the oil and gas production itself. The activities to re-purpose and prolong the life of oil and gas platforms represents a new market segment. As such there are no market failures yet. (World Energy Council, 2017)

In Europe, 65 offshore wind parks will need to be re-powered, upgraded, or decommissioned, in the next 20 years (OSPAR,2007). The first decommissioning project began in 2016, and in the North Sea alone, decommissioning costs are expected to reach between €80 to €100bn over the next 25-30 years. (World Energy Council,2017). Installing wave energy systems is an opportunity to offset the cost of decommissioning by re-purposing the wind parks' infrastructure. The potential global market for this technology is 500 GW(IRENA,2014), with annual electricity sales of about 50 billion Euros. (IRENA,2014 and EWEA,2011).

Fully electric fish farms, powered by wave energy, might not only produce sufficient energy to power their operations, but even excess energy to power the electric vessels that make the voyage to maintain, stock, and extract fish from the farm (Syse, 2016).

In the North Sea, offshore vessel charging stations could be powered by wind energy, where production prices have fallen by 63% in the past six years to 65€/MWh (2018), and have the potential to scale to 2600TWh, making it cheaper than diesel (Orsted, 2017).

The Structural Analysis findings showed that 13 out of 28 identified variables from Thematic analysis are strategic (key) variables. Based on the result of data analysis, policymakers in the NSR should consider following recommendations:

- 1. Governments/Regulators must provide more strict rulings on decommissioning, prolonging life, and repurposing of existence platforms.
- 2. Investment from governments in the NSR is needed. Moreover, governmental, and financial incentives are needed for entrepreneurs to invest.
- 3. Financial incentives whether more tax on the shipping and port companies to deter the use of fossil fuels or even reducing tax in areas where a retrofit happens.
- 4. Supporting research and development in renewable energy infrastructures.
- 5. Encourage a collaboration between governments, entrepreneurs, shipbuilding companies and maritime industries in the NSR. Governments must provide incentives for companies for sharing their best practices.
- 6. The health and safety aspect of all personnel on board whose want to use these infrastructures needs to be considered.

# 5.7.2 Shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities

This cluster includes Exhaust scrubber, Solar-powered charging vessel, Renewable methanol vessels,100% Renewable energy vessels and Tide-powered hydrogen vessels.

An exhaust gas cleaning system (scrubber) is a device installed onboard marine vessels that, quite literally, "scrubs" harmful sulfur oxides from exhaust gases. Scrubbers are also effective in removing black carbon (BC), of particular interest because of the potential impact in Arctic regions. (Maritime Executive,2018 and Muenster, 2019). The expected cost of equipment is between \$2 million and \$5 million per vessel, with variable labor and installation costs adding significantly to the final price (Muenster, 2019). This can be an attractive investment for entrepreneurs.

Solar-powered vessels will be able to provide charging services that enable increased speeds and radii for other electrified vessels. The lower costs of materials and advanced production techniques makes the price-performance ratio of solar technologies competitive to rival energy sources (University of Toledo, 2019).

Renewable methanol is produced from an electrolysis process, powered from a renewable energy source. The process combines hydrogen with CO2 captured from the air or the emissions from an industry, making it carbon neutral (Hobson, 2018).

100% Renewable energy vessels powered by waves. They are hybrid ships that use both waves energy and electrical power provided by solar panels placed on board. In this way they can sail without CO2 emissions and without refueling. (OOC, 2020).

Tide-powered hydrogen vessels can be electrifying by electricity from tidal. Electricity from tidal is very predictable because it relies on the gravitational pull from the moon, and because the waterways that make good sites for tidal energy are not always easily connected to a mainland electricity grid, producing hydrogen can serve as another way to store the energy (Giannini, 2019 and Husseini 2018).

The Structural Analysis findings showed that 9 out of 25 identified variables from Thematic analysis are strategic (key) variables. Based on the result of data analysis, policymakers in the NSR should consider following recommendations:

- 1. Encourage a collaboration between shipbuilding companies, governments, entrepreneurs, and ports. Governments in the NSR must provide a collaborative framework to manage, focus, develop, and share research and development and leverage best practices in shipbuilding and ship repair.
- 2. Alteration of ship is very expensive, and governments must provide financial incentives for shipbuilding companies and entrepreneurs that want to help these companies in this process. Governments in the NSR should offer tariffs to companies that switch to renewable energy, to offset the cost of modifying the ship.
- 3. Invest in alteration of ships, installation of Exhaust scrubber on the existence ships and design future ships.
- 4. Create demand for renewable energy powered vessels through government incentives or enforces such as emission tax, tax-free or low taxes on maritime transport running with renewable energy.
- 5. The time to recharge should take no longer than that of the current energy use. Therefore, a technology for shorter recharge time is needed.
- 6. Ensuring safety on renewable energy powered vessels.

# 5.7.3 Technological entrepreneurial opportunities

This cluster includes Charging at offshore wind parks/farms, Virtual arrival agreements, AI for cargo stowage , International MRV monitoring and Offshore maintenance drones.

Offshore wind energy is very similar to onshore wind, but with larger blades and turbines. Offshore wind farms are playing an important role as Europe transitions to renewable energy. The European offshore wind market will reach an expected annual capacity of  $\approx$ 14 GW by 2030 and will require an expansion of the fleet of Service Operation Vessels (SOVs) to maintain them (DNV,2019). According to the Bloomberg New Energy Finance data, the levelized cost of electricity (LCOE) of onshore wind in Europe ranges from 50-65  $\in$ /MWh in H1 2018, while offshore wind is on a steady cost reduction pathway with expected costs of 64  $\in$ /MWh by 2021 and  $\in$ 60/MWh by 2025. Europe has the potential to realize up to 3,400 TWh of offshore wind energy within its waters in 2030 (windeurope,2020). The research showed this opportunity can be an attractive opportunity for entrepreneur.

When at port, ships keep their auxiliary engines, resulting in unnecessary emission of pollutants and over \$18bn in fuel waste (NAPA, 2017). Estimates suggest that an eight-hour stay at port can emit 2.5 tonnes of pollutants. (FathomShipping,2013). Virtual arrival agreements can minimize berthing time for each visit. Access to information about cargo processing progress at ports needs a platform. Designing, running, and managing of this platform can be an attractive opportunity for entrepreneurs.

RoRo (Roll-on/Roll-off) vessels carry 234 million tonnes of goods annually around Europe and is growing at an average rate of 3%. (ECSA ,2016 and European Commission ,2015). The task of the RoRo cargo stowage planner is to limit delays and to ensure a good balance of the cargo onboard for each trip (European Commission ,2015). Suboptimal arrangements are costing shipping companies millions per year, as a more balanced ship will provide fuel (and emissions) savings of up to 2% per trip (Wathne,2012). Artificial Intelligence (AI) offers an algorithmic approach to support stowage optimization, calculating and suggesting options for the stowage planner (Martinez, 2020).

From the 1st of January 2018, ships above 5,000 gross tonnes are required to monitor and report information on fuel consumption and related CO2 emissions in the EU. (European Commission, 2020). A central data repository must be established to monitor ship performance data base on International MRV monitoring.

Offshore maintenance drones can maintenance and repair difficult-to-reach places. The drones and robotics market are undergoing tremendous growth, with an estimated market forecast to reach \$81.4bn by 2022. In the next 3 to 5 years, the oil and gas industry is planning to double its investment portfolio in drones and robotics, from 15% to 28%. (Frost & Sullivan, 2017). Timely repairing of platforms and vessels can help to less emission; and maintenance drones are effective tools for fast repairing.

The Structural Analysis findings showed that 13 out of 26 identified variables from Thematic analysis are strategic (key) variables. Based on the result of data analysis, policymakers in the NSR should consider following recommendations:

- 1. To make this happen and increase demand, government enforces, and financial incentives need to be in place so that the forecasted reduction in fuel costs, emissions and environmental aspects are not just perceived as morally good but also a financially sound investment.
- 2. The NSR regulations must facilitate investing on these technologies and increase collaboration between the actors in the maritime and marine. These regulations must also commit maritime industry to using renewable energy rather than just continue polluting the oceans.

- 3. Support and facilitate general agreement between ship owners, ports, and governments in the NSR.
- 4. Mange the costs because the cost should not be more than that of the current solutions.
- 5. International joint industry project that increases the cost of NOT being round the table to drive these technologies.
- 6. An international consensus on standardizing data, file formats and central warehouses, processes, tools, and technologies are needed.
- 7. Support of R & D in the NSR for technology advancement.
- 8. Create and expand a communication infrastructure in the NSR.

### 5.7 Conclusion

In overall, decarbonizing and zero emission is a necessity for sustainable blue growth. Entrepreneurs by utilizing of their ingenuity can identify venturing ideas and analyze them to identify entrepreneurial opportunities and establish new markets. The markets that can work non-stop while helping to decarbonizing and zero emissions. By identifying entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission in the North Sea, this study has effectively helped to shorten the entrepreneurial process and has introduced opportunities for operational investment to the region governments.

The findings of the study show venturing ideas for decarbonizing and zero emission and their clustering in the NSR and venturing ideas screening criteria and their priority. The findings demonstrate how the venturing ideas screening criteria can be applied for identification of the entrepreneurial opportunities and when these opportunities can be realized. However, it is not without challenges. There are political, economic, social, technological, and environmental challenges that must be managed. The study goes further to point out variables that affect realization of the opportunities. Identification of strategic variable by structure analysis provided a base for a strategic foresighting. The research showed Profitability of such opportunities and their effectiveness in decarbonizing and zero emission is necessary if it is to be a sustainable investment. Moreover, financial, and non-financial support for entrepreneurs have a vital role in realization of entrepreneurial opportunities. The findings demonstrated a strategic collaboration between all actors in the NSR (Governments, shipbuilding companies, ports, shipping companies, entrepreneurs, incubators and so on.) is necessary; and government enforces, and incentives can guarantee decarbonization and zero emission. Meanwhile concerns over safety and the harsh weather conditions on the North Sea point toward needs for increased automation of operations. While the technological feasibility is seemingly mature, the political analysis points to a critical issue that remains unaddressed: how will countries share the responsibility of this development?

Based on the research objectives, this research has formulated an applicable framework for screening venturing ideas and improved the existing knowledge in the field of entrepreneurship, while neither such framework nor their priorities are in the literature review. The research identified 15 entrepreneurial opportunities for decarbonizing and zero emission and introduced them to entrepreneurs, investors, and other actors in the NSR. Understanding how each opportunity is plausible is an arguably necessary for entrepreneurship. Deeper understanding of affecting variables for each opportunity and identification of the strategic variables, is a base for future entrepreneurships in the NSR.

Therefor the author's contribution to the literature is twofold. First, by identification of venturing ideas screening criteria and their priorities the author has provided an applicable framework for identification of

entrepreneurial opportunities. Therefore, Other researchers in the maritime can use these criteria to identifying entrepreneurial opportunities in the other fields in the NSR. Second, this research created a deeper understanding of affecting variables for each opportunity and identified the strategic variables, which is a base for future entrepreneurships and strategic foresighting in the NSR.

# 5.8 Limitations

The study is limited by financial resources and time and number of pages constraints. As research was carried out during the COVID-19 pandemic, contribution of some experts was limited. The researcher tried to overcome this limitation with virtual meetings and use of the MIRO. But interactions and consensus between participants were difficult.

# References

- 1. Adamopoulos, A., (2019), Shipping launches 'moon-shot' initiative to develop zero emission vessels by 2030.
- 2. Advent Technology, (2019). Methanol: the Surprising Solution for Pollution, Global Warming, and Electric Car Mass-Adoption.
- 3. Airclim, Seas At RISK, Bellona Foundation, North Sea Foundation, Transport and environment, and European Environmental Bureau, Air pollution from ships,2016. Available at: https://www.cleanshipping.org/download/111128\_Air%20pollution%20from%20ships\_New\_Nov-11(3).pdf.
- 4. ARCOP (2006), Arctic Operational Platform, Working Paper D2.4.2, Marine Insurance Coverage for the Sea Carriage of Oil and Other Energy Materials on the Northern Sea Route: Moving from Theory to Reality. By E. Gold and L.Wright, Fridtjof Nansen Institute.
- 5. Ardichvili, A., Cardoza, R. and Ray, S. (2003) 'A theory of entrepreneurial opportunity identification and development', Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 18, No. 1, pp.105–123.
- 6. Aryadi, Y .et al 2016 IOP Conf. Ser.: Earth Environ. Sci. 42 012019
- 7. Aulinger, A. et al. (2016), The impact of shipping emissions on air pollution in the greater North Sea region Part 1: Current emissions and concentrations.
- 8. Autio, Erkko & Levie, Jonathan. (2017). Management of Entrepreneurial Ecosystems. 10.1002/9781118970812.ch19.
- 9. Baldassarra, S., Bevivino, and Marinacci (2016) Modeling an offshore container terminal: The Venice case study.
- 10. Bañuls, V.A, M. Turoff, (2011), Scenario construction via Delphi and cross-impact analysis, Technol. Forecast. Soc. Change, Doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2011.03.014.
- Baron, R. and Ensley, M. (2006) Opportunity recognition as the detection of meaningful patterns: Evidence from comparisons of novice and experienced entrepreneurs, Management Science, 52(9), p. 1331.
- 12. Baron, Robert A., Scott Andrew Shane, (2005), Entrepreneurship: A Process Perspective, Thomson/South-Western, 2005.
- Barreto, I. (2012), "Solving the entrepreneurial puzzle: the role of entrepreneurial interpretation in opportunity formation and related processes", Journal of Management Studies, Vol. 49 No. 2, pp. 356-380.
- 14. Barringer, Bruce R & Ireland, R. Duane (2012). Entrepreneurship: successfully launching new ventures (4th ed). Pearson/Prentice Hall, Boston.
- 15. BCC Research (2019), Deep Sea Mining Technologies, Equipment and Mineral Targets
- 16. Bebbington, T. (2017), 50,000 TEU... the Future or Not?
- 17. Bison, (2020), How Much Does a Shipping Container Weight?
- 18. Blume Global, (2020), A Guide to Intermodal Shipping Containers and Containerization
- Brennan, Laura K., Ross C. Brownson, Cheryl Kelly, Melissa K. Ivey, and Laura C. Leviton, (2012), Concept Mapping: Priority Community Strategies to Create Changes to Support Active Living, Am J Prev Med. 2012 November; 43(5 0 4): S337–S350. Doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.07.015.

- 20. Budgen, P. (2017), Hydrothermal vent mining, Japan experiments the new frontier threatening our oceans.
- 21. Chowdhury, M.S., Rahman, K.S., Selvanathan, V. et al. (2020). Current trends and prospects of tidal energy technology. Environ Dev Sustain. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-020-01013-4.
- 22. Cipollina A., Micale, G. and Rizzuti, L. eds., (2009), Seawater desalination: conventional and renewable energy processes. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 23. Clark, V. L. P. and Ivankova, N. V. (2016). Mixed Methods Research: A Guide to the Field. SAGE Publications, 1ST edition.
- 24. CMB, hydrogen in shipping. Available at: http://www.hydroville.be/en/waterstof/7-roy/
- 25. Cohen, Jacob. A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. Educational and Psychological Measurement 1960; No.1:37-46. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000104.
- Cook, Carly N., Sohail Inayatullah, Mark A. Burgman, William J. Sutherland, Brendan A. Wintle, (2014), Strategic foresight: how planning for the unpredictable can improve environmental decision-making,
- 27. Corbett, A.C. (2007), "Learning asymmetries and the discovery of entrepreneurial opportunities", Journal of business venturing, 22(1), 97-118.
- 28. Creswell, John w., Cheryln N. Poth (2018), Qualitative Inquiry Research design choosing five approaches,4th ed, Sage publishing.
- 29. Davis, N. (2014), Icing Impacts on Wind Energy Production. DTU Wind Energy.
- 30. Diamandis, P. H. (2019), The Age of Solar Energy Abundance Is Coming in Hot
- 31. Dickie, M. (2018), Orkney's ageing ferries look to ditch diesel for hydrogen
- 32. Dimov, D. (2010), "Nascent entrepreneurs and venture emergence: opportunity confidence, human capital, and early planning", Journal of Management Studies, Vol. 47 No. 6. pp. 1123-1153.
- 33. Ding, T. 2019. "Understanding the Design of Opportunities: Re-evaluating the Agent-Opportunity Nexus through a Design Lens." Journal of Business Venturing Insights 11: e00108
- 34. DNV GL (2019), NEXUS takes action
- 35. DNV GL, (2015), A new era for hydrogen energy unveiled by summer students at DNV GL
- 36. Dobbins, Richard, Barrie O. Pettman 1998 The Ultimate Entrepreneur's Book: Straight-talking Guide to Business Success and Personal Riches (The Ultimate Series), Capstone publishing limited co.
- Douglas, E.J. and Shepherd, D.A. (2002), "Self-employment as a career choice: attitudes, entrepreneurial intentions and utility maximisation", Entrepreneurial Theory and Practice, Vol. 26 No. 3, pp. 81-90.
- 38. Dunkley, P. (2017). BiSN Seals Deal with Significant Investment
- 39. Eba Gr. (2017), World's First Electric Aquaculture Support Vessel
- 40. Eckhardt, J. T., & Shane, S. A. (2003). Opportunities and Entrepreneurship. Journal of Management, 29(3), 333–349. https://doi.org/10.1177/014920630302900304
- 41. ECSA (2016), Short Sea Shipping The full potential yet to be unleashed
- 42. Eikeset, Anne Maria. (2018), What is blue growth? The semantics of "Sustainable Development" of marine environments, Marine Policy 87, pp 177- 179.
- 43. EMEC, wave developers. Available at: http://www.emec.org.uk/marine-energy/wave-developers/
- 44. Equinor (2020), The future of offshore wind is afloat

- 45. Erikstad, S.O., Ehlers, S. (2012) Decision Support Framework for Exploiting Northern Sea Route Transport Opportunities, Ship Technology Research, 59(2): 34-42.
- 46. EURAILmag Issue 27, Fire-resistant Composite Materials
- 47. European Commision (2015), Analysis of Recent Trends in EU Shipping and Analysis and Policy Support to Improve the Competetiveness of Short Sea Shipping in the EU
- 48. European Commission (2012), Blue Growth: Opportunities for marine and maritime sustainable growth, Luxembourg.
- 49. European Commission (2013), Maritime transport: first step to reduce emissions
- 50. European Commission (EUC), (2013), Memo: Blue Growth strategy to create growth and jobs in the marine and maritime sectors gets further backing, (http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release\_MEMO-13-615\_en.htm), Brussels.
- 51. European Commission, (2020), Reducing emissions from the shipping sector
- 52. European union, (2017), Towards a sustainable and integrated Europe.
- 53. Filser, Matthias, Tiberius, Victor, Kraus, Sascha, Zeitlhofer, Tanita, Kailer, Norbert and Müller, Adrian. "Opportunity Recognition: Conversational Foundations and Pathways Ahead" Entrepreneurship Research Journal, 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/erj-2020-0124</u>
- 54. Fitzsimmons, J.R. and Douglas, E.J. (2011), "Interaction between feasibility and desirability in the formation of entrepreneurial intentions", Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 26 No. 4, pp. 431-440.
- 55. Flaherty, N. (2018), Schneider Electric creates microgrid at Long Beach
- 56. Frontiers of Entrepreneurship Research, Wellesley, MA: Babson College, 105–117.
- 57. FuchsTechnology (2012), Reducing Fuel Consumption on Cruise Vessels
- 58. Gardiner, G., (2019), Withstanding fire without the weight
- 59. Giannini, G. (2019), Modelling and Feasibility Study on Using Tidal Power with an Energy Storage Utility for Residential Needs Inventions 4.1
- 60. Global Market Insights (2018), Thermal Energy Storage Market to hit \$55bn by 2024
- 61. Godet, Michel. (2006), Creating Futures Scenario Planning as a Strategic Management Tool, Economica Ltd, France.
- 62. Gonzalez-Alvarez, N., & Solis-Rodriguez, V. (2011). Discovery of entrepreneurial opportunities: A gender perspective. Industrial Management & Data Systems, 111(5), 755–775.
- 63. Good Fish Bad Fish (2020), An Introduction to Open-Pen Sea Cage Aquaculture
- 64. GreenPort (2020), The Benefits of Battery Hybrid Powered Port Equipment
- 65. Grichnik, D., Smeja, A. and Welpe, I. (2010), "The importance of being emotional: how do emotions affect entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation and exploitation?", Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, Vol. 76 No. 1, pp. 15-29.
- 66. Grime, Megan M and George Wright, (2016), Delphi Method, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. DOI: 10.1002/9781118445112.stat07879. 60.Håkansson, M., Johnson, E., Ringsberg, J. (2017), Cost and weight of composite ship structures: A parametric study based on Det Norske Veritas rules
- 67. Gundry, L. K. & Kichul, J. R. (2007). Entrepreneurship Strategy, Changing Patterns in New Venture Creation, Growth, and Reinvention. Sage Publications.

- Hajizadeh, Ali & Zali, Mohammad. (2016). Prior knowledge, cognitive characteristics and opportunity recognition. International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behaviour & Research. 22. 63 -83. 10.1108/IJEBR-05-2015-0110.
- 69. Hansen, Hamidreza. (2021), Electrification of the seas, Aalborg university.
- 70. Harestad,K., Herigstad,T., Torsvoll, A., Nodland,N., Saasen, A. (1997). Optimization of Balanced-Plug Cementing
- 71. Hassanzadeh, Hamidreza. Parisa Abdolahi. (2015), Concept mapping, Raha inc.
- 72. Hauan, T. (2016). Thermite makes P&A right
- 73. Hauerhof, Elena (2017), Ocean Thermal Energy Conversion, John Wiley & Sons, Inc
- 74. Haynes, J. (2019), Hybrid marine technology for wind farm service vessels
- 75. Haynie, J.M., Shepherd, D.A. and McMullen, J.S. (2009), "An opportunity for me? The role of resources in opportunity evaluation decisions", Journal of Management Studies, Vol. 46 No. 3, pp. 337-361.
- 76. Helgesen, Henrik., (2020) Electrical Energy Storage for Ships, EMSA European Maritime Safety Agency and DNV GL AS Maritime Environment Advisory, Norway.
- 77. Hill, J. (2018), Hywind Scotland, World's First Floating Wind Farm, Performing Better Than Expected
- 78. Hills, G. E. (1995) Opportunity recognition by successful entrepreneurs: A Pilot Study.
- 79. Hobson, C., & Márquez, C. (2018). Renewable Methanol Report.
- 80. Hobson, Charlie (2018), Renewable methanol report, Methanol Institute. Available at: Https://www.methanol.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/MethanolReport.pdf
- 81. Hochkirch, K. & Bertram, V. (2010), Engineering Options for More Fuel-Efficient Ships
- 82. Hoekstra, C. (2019), Deepsea Mineral Extraction
- 83. Hosseini, A., Sangsefidi, Y. & Sani, A. (2018), Multi-Port DC Microgrids: Online Parameter Adaptation in Model Predictive Control
- 84. Husseini, T. (2018), Riding the renewable wave: tidal energy advantages and disadvantages
- 85. Hydroville, (2020), Hydrogen in Shipping
- 86. IMO, (2020), Third IMO GHG Study 2014
- 87. International Maritime Organization (2020), Sulphur 2020 cutting Sulphur oxide emissions, IMO.
- 88. International Renewable Energy Agency (2014), Wave Energy Technology Brief.
- 89. Johnson, T., (2018), A List of Composite Materials in Boats
- 90. Kaminski, I. (2017). Tackling old oil and gas platforms
- 91. Kemp, S., Roach, P., Ware, A., Wilson, I., & Univ of Glamorgan (2003), Artificial Intelligence for Automatic Container Stowage Planning Optimisation
- 92. Kempf, Julius. (2015), Visualizing General Morphological Analysis via Multidimensional Scaling, Bachelor Thesis, University of Passau.
- 93. Kinhal, V. (2020), Efficiency of Wind Energy
- 94. Kothari, C. R. (2004). Research Methodology: Methods and Techniques. New age international,2nd. edition.
- 95. Krueger, N., & Dickson, P. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy and perceptions of opportunity and threat. Psychological Reports, 72, 1235–1240.

- 96. kumar, Sandeep., Vijay Garg, HYBRID SYSTEM OF PV SOLAR / WIND &FUEL CELL, International Journal of Advanced Research in Electrical, Electronics and Instrumentation Engineering (An ISO 3297: 2007 Certified Organization) Vol. 2, Issue 8, August 2013.
- 97. Kuratko, Donald & Morris, Michael & Covin, Jeffrey. (2015). Corporate Entrepreneurship. 10.1002/9781118785317.weom030017.
- 98. Lasserre, F. (2014) Case studies of shipping along Arctic routes. Analysis and profitability perspectives for the container sector, Transportation Research Part A, 66: 144-161.
- 99. Laverty, Michael, Chris Littel (2020), Entrepreneurship, OpenStax.

https://openstax.org/books/entrepreneurship/pages/5-1-entrepreneurial-opportunity 100. Lehner, O. M., & Kansikas, J. (2012). Opportunity recognition in social entrepreneurship: A thematic meta-analysis. The Journal of Entrepreneurship, 21(1), 25-58.

101. Lesley Nicol and Alexander Chavez (2019), Lithium-ion battery modules: The electrification of the seas, Siemens.

102. Licki, Janusz, Andrzej G Chmielewski, Andrzej Pawelec , Zbigniew Zimek and Sylwia Witman, (2014),Electron beam treatment of exhaust gas with high NOx concentration, Physica Scripta, doi: 10.1088/0031-8949.

103. Linder, C. (2019), Solar-PoweredYacht? Solar-PoweredYacht.

104. LiVecchi, A., A. Copping, D. Jenne, A. Gorton, R. Preus, G. Gill, R. Robichaud, R. Green, S. Geerlofs, S. Gore, D. Hume, W. McShane, C. Schmaus, H. Spence. (2019). Powering the Blue Economy; Exploring Opportunities for Marine Renewable Energy in Maritime Markets. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy. Washington, D.C.

105. Livingstone, P. (2019), Next-Generation Crew Transfer and Service Operation Vessels 106. Lloyd's Register, QinetiQ, and University of Southampton (2015), Global Marine Technology Trends 2030, Available at: https://www.lr.org/en/insights/global-marine-trends-2030/global-marinetechnology-trends-2030/

107. Lumpkin, G. & Lichtenstein, Benyamin. (2005). The Role of Organizational Learning in the Opportunity-Recognition Process. Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice. 29. 451 - 472. 10.1111/j.1540-520.2005.00093.

108. MarketWatch (2019), Global Microgrid Market was valued at USD 19.01 billion in 2017 and is projected to reach USD 46.26 billion by 2025, growing at a CAGR of 11.26% from 2018 to 2025 109. Martinez, C. (2020), Artificial Intelligence.

110. Martínez, J., Vazquez, P. & Maldonado, J. (2019), Energy efficiency and CO2 emissions of port container terminal equipment: Evidence from the Port of Valencia.

111. Martínez, Julián -Moya, Barbara Vazquez-Paja, Jose Andrés Gimenez Maldonado, Energy efficiency and CO2 emissions of port container terminal equipment: Evidence from the Port of Valencia, Energy Policy, Volume 131, 2019, Pages 312-319, ISSN 0301-4215, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.04.044.

112. Matthias V., A. Aulinger, A. Backes, J. Bieser, B. Geyer, M. Quante, and M. Zeretzke, (2016), The impact of shipping emissions on air pollution in the greater North Sea region – Part 2: Scenarios for 2030, Copernicus Publications doi:10.5194/acp-16-759-2016.

113. Matzer, M., Alhajji, M., Demirel, Y. (2015), Chemical storage of wind energy by renewable methanol production: Feasibility analysis using a multi-criteria decision matrix.

114. McHugh, Mary L. (2012), Interrater reliability: the kappa statistic, Biochemia Medica 2012;22(3):276-82.

115. Mcmullan, W.Ed, Wayne A. Long, Entrepreneurship education in the nineties, Journal of Business Venturing, Volume 2, Issue 3, 1987, Pages 261-275, ISSN 0883-9026, https://doi.org/10.1016/0883-9026(87)90013-9.

116. Measure, (2020), Drone for Wind Turbine Inspections.

117. Miozzo, M., DiVito, L. Productive opportunities, uncertainty, and science-based firm emergence. Small Bus Econ 54, 539–560 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-018-0033-5.

118. Mishra, S. B. and Alok, S. (2017). Handbook of Research Methodology. Educreation, 1st edition. 119. Misra, A., Venkataramani, G., Gowrishankar, S., Ayyasam, E. & Ramalingam, V. (2017), Renewable Energy Based Smart Microgrids - A Pathway To Green Port Development.

120. Misra, Atulya, Gayathri Venkataramani, Senthilkumar Gowrishankar, Elayaperumal Ayyasam & Velraj Ramalingam (2017) Renewable Energy Based Smart Microgrids—A Pathway To Green Port Development, Strategic Planning for Energy and the Environment, 37:2, 17-32, DOI: 10.1080/10485236.2017.11907880.

121. Mitchell, J.R. and Shepherd, D.A. (2010), "To thine own self be true: images of self, images of opportunity, and entrepreneurial action", Journal of Business Venturing, Vol. 25 No. 1, pp. 138-154. 122. Munger, J. – Purdy, W. – Artz, N. (2002) Development of a course in market opportunity analysis: A market-orientation to business education. Journal of Entrepreneurship Education, Vol. 5, 77–90. 123. Murnieks, C.Y., Haynie, M., Wiltbank, R.E. and Harting, T. (2011), "I like how you think': similarity as an interaction bias in the investor–entrepreneur dyad", Journal of Management Studies, Vol. 48,No. 7,

рр. 1533-1561.

124. Offshore technology (2017). Can decommissioning cause more harm than good?

125. Oil & Gas UK (2018). Decommissioning Insight 2018

126. O'Kruk, A. (2019), The new frontier: deep-sea mining

127. Olsson, Ola. (2005). Technological Opportunity and Growth. Journal of Economic Growth. 10. 31-53. 1007/s10887-005-1112-4.

128. Ørsts, Hansen, Grønsedt, Lindstrøm, Graversen and Hendriksen (2016), Arctic Shipping – Commercial Opportunity and Challenges; Ørsts, Hansen, Grønsedt, Lindstrøm, Graversen and Hendriksen (2016), CBS Maritime

129. OSPAR Convention: https://www.ospar.org/convention/text.

130. Ozgen, E. and Baron, R.A. (2007). Social Sources of opportunity recognition: Effects of Mentors, Industry Networks and Professional Forums, Journal of Business Venturing, 22, pp. 174-192.

131. Paulauskas, S., (2018), Blue Growth Circular Innovation, the International Journal on Marine Navigation and Safety of Sea Transportation, V.12, N 4. DOI: 10.12716/1001.12.04.21.

132. Peng Hou, Weihao Hu, M. Soltani, Baohua Zhang and Z. Chen, "Optimization of decommission strategy for offshore wind farms," 2016 IEEE Power and Energy Society General Meeting (PESGM), 2016, pp. 1-5, doi: 10.1109/PESGM.2016.7741634.

133. PEW Environment Group (2008), The costs of IUU fishing to the EU

134. Plastics Today, (2014), Composites could revolutionize shipping containers.
135. Rabani, Taha. (2012), Structural analysis a tool for identification of influencing variables on urban issues, The first national conference on foresighting, Tehran, Iran.

136. Raunek (2019), How Air Lubrication System for Ships Works?

137. Röckmann C., Lagerveld S., Stavenuiter J. (2017) Operation and Maintenance Costs of Offshore Wind Farms and Potential Multi-use Platforms in the Dutch North Sea.

138. Roslyng Olesen, T. (2016), OFFSHORE SUPPLY INDUSTRY DYNAMICS

139. Saaty, T. L. (2005). Theory and applications of the analytic network process: Decision making with benefits, opportunities, costs, and risks. Pittsburgh: RWS Publications.

140. Safety4Sea (2019), Cold Ironing: The role of ports in reducing shipping emissions

141. Sarasvathy, Saras & Dew, Nicholas & Velamuri, S. Ramakrishna & Venkataraman, Sankaran. (2005). Three Views of Entrepreneurial Opportunity. 10.1007/0-387-24519-7\_7.

142. Sardar, Z. (2010) The Namesake: Futures; futures studies; futurology; futuristic; Foresight -- What is in a name? Futures, 42 (3), pp. 177–184.

143. Schrooten, Liesbeth, Ina De Vlieger, Luc Int Panis, Cosimo Chiffi, Enrico Pastori, (2009), Emissions of maritime transport: A European reference system, Science of the Total Environment 408, PP318–323. 144. Selin, H. & R. Cowing, (2018), Cargo ships are emitting boatloads of carbon, and nobody wants to take the blame

145. Serrano, Delgado, María del Mar; Ambrosio-Albalá, Mateo; Amador, Francisco (2015), Exploring Prospective Structural Analysis to Assess the Relevance of Rural Territorial Development in Spain and Nicaragua Cuadernos de Desarrollo Rural, vol. 12, núm. 76, julio-diciembre, pp. 35-56

146. Shane, S., & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The Promise of Entrepreneurship as a Field of Research. The Academy of Management Review, 25(1), 217-226. doi:10.2307/259271.

147. Shapherd, D.A., Patzelt, H. and Baron, R.A. (2013), "'I care about nature, but': disengaging values in assessing opportunities that cause harm", Academy of Management Journal, Vol. 56 No. 5,pp. 1251-1273.

148. Short, J. C., D. J. Ketchen, C. L. Shook, and R. D. Ireland. 2010. "The Concept of "Opportunity" in Entrepreneurship Research: Past Accomplishments and Future Challenges." Journal of Management 36(1): 40–65.

149. Singh, S., Corner, P., & Pavlovich, K. (1999). Coping with entrepreneurial failure. Journal of 150. Management & Organization, 13(4), 331-344.

151. Sinha T. (2019), Various Methods Used to Minimize Resistance on Ship's Hull

152. Smith, B.R., Kickul, J.R. and Wilson, F. (2010), "Entrepreneurial opportunity evaluation: a discrete, Values and Opportunities in Social Entrepreneurship, Palgrave Macmillan, London, pp. 121-141.

153. Smith, T. W. P., Jalkanen, J. P., Anderson, B. A., et.al, (2014). Third IMO GHG Study 2014, Tech. rep., International Maritime Organization (IMO), London, UK.

154. Solakivi, T., Kiisi, T. and Ojala L. (2019) 'On the Cost of Ice: Estimating the Premium of Ice-class Container Vessels', Maritime Economics & Logistics, 21(2), pp 207–222.

155. Spaniol, Matt.J.(2020), Offshore Energy Hubs, PERISCOPE project, DOI:

10.13140/RG.2.2.35492.50567.

156. Spector, J. (2019), Orsted Diversifies from Offshore Wind With 20MW UK Battery

157. Spinelli, S. and Adams, R.J. (2012), New Venture Creation: Entrepreneurship for 21st Century, 9th ed.,McGraw-Hill, New York, NY.

158. SSPA (2020), Hull air lubrication: future and challenges

159. Stevenson, H., & Jarillo, J. (1990). A Paradigm of Entrepreneurship: Entrepreneurial Management. Strategic Management Journal, 11, 17-27. Retrieved June 2, 2021, from

http://www.jstor.org/stable/2486667.

160. Stevenson, R. G. (2001). Introduction. Illness, Crisis & Loss, 9(3), 245–246.

https://doi.org/10.1177/105413730100900301.

161. Stratiotis, E., (2018), Fuel Costs in Ocean Shipping

162. Surowiecki, J. (2005) 'The Wisdom of Crowds'. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.07.003.

163. Syse, H. L. (2016), Investigating Off-Grid Energy Solutions for the Salmon Farming Industry, University of Strathclyde and the University of Stavanger.

164. Tang, J., Kacmar, K. M. M., & Busenitz, L. (2012). Entrepreneurial alertness in the pursuit of new opportunities. Journal of Business Venturing, 27(1), 77-94.

165. Thomas, G. (2020), Heat Insulation and Fire Resistance using Composite Materials166. Timmons, J. A. "Opportunity Recognition." The Portable MBA in Entrepreneurship. Ed. W. D.Bygrave. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1997.

167. Trochim, William & Mclinden, Dan. (2016). Introduction to a Special Issue on Concept Mapping. Evaluation and Program Planning. 60. 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.10.006.

168. Trochim, William M.K. (1993), The Reliability of Concept Mapping, Annual Conference of the American Evaluation Association, Dallas, Texas, November 6, 1993.

169. Truman, C., (2016), Green Buildings: How to Start a Shipping Container Building Project.

170. Tumasjan, A., & Braun, R. (2012). In the eye of the beholder: How regulatory focus and self-efficacy interact in influencing opportunity recognition. Journal of Business Venturing, 27(6), 622- 636.

171. Tutty, L. M., Rothery, R. M., & Grinnell, J. R. (1996). Analyzing your own data, qualitative research for social workers. Calgary, Canada: Allyn and Bacon.

172. Ulstein Wind Team (2017), Why should Service Operation Vessels be the standard at offshore wind farms?

173. University of Stavanger (2017), How to make the fish farming industry more climate friendly

174. University of Toledo. "Breakthrough in new material to harness solar power." ScienceDaily.

ScienceDaily, 14 May 2019. <www.sciencedaily.com/releases/2019/05/190514081554.htm>.

175. US Patent Application Publication, 29 November 2007.

176. Vargas, R. V. (2010). Using the analytic hierarchy process (AHP) to select and prioritize projects in a portfolio. Paper presented at PMI<sup>®</sup> Global Congress 2010—North America, Washington, DC. Newtown Square, PA: Project Management Institute.

177. Vidal, J.; (2014), Russian Arctic city hopes to cash in as melting ice opens new sea route to China; The Guardian.

178. Vidal, John. (2009), Health risks of shipping pollution have been 'underestimated', The Guardian, Thu 9 Apr 2009 15.50 BST.

179. Villacorta, Pablo J. Antonio D. Masegosaa, Dagoberto Castellanosb, Maria T. Lamataa, (2014), A new fuzzy linguistic approach to qualitative cross impact Analysis, Applied Soft Computing · November 2014, DOI: 10.1016/j.asoc.2014.06.025.

180. Villalba, G. & Gemechu, E. (2011), Estimating GHG emissions of marine ports - the case of Barcelona 181. Vrålstad, T., Saasen, A., Fjær, E., Øia, T., Ytrehus, J. D., & Khalifeh, M. (2019). Plug & abandonment of offshore wells: Ensuring long-term well integrity and cost-efficiency. Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering, 173, 478-491.

182. Waldman, Jonathan (2015). Rust: The Longest War, Simon & Schuster ISBN 978-1-4516-9159-7.
183. Walker TR, Adebambo O, Del Aguila Feijoo MC, Elhaimer E, Hossain T, Edwards SJ, Morrison CE, Romo J, Sharma N, Taylor S, Zomorodi S (2019). "Environmental Effects of Marine Transportation".
World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation. pp. 505–530. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-805052-1.00030-9. ISBN 978-0-12-805052-1.

184. Wasdani, Kishinchand Poornima & Mathew, Mary. (2014). Potential for opportunity recognition: Differentiating entrepreneurs. International Journal of entrepreneurship and small business. 23. 336-362. 10.1504/IJESB.2014.065526.

185. Wathne, E. (2012), Cargo Stowage Planing in RoRo Shipping

186. Wellcem (2017). Effective Alternatives to Cement in Oil and Gas Wells

187. Whitmarsh, L., Xenias, D. & Jones, C.R. Framing effects on public support for carbon capture and storage. Palgrave Commun 5, 17 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-019-0217-x

188. Wickham, Philip A. 2006, Strategic entrepreneurship Pearson College Div; 4th edition (September 1, 2006)

189. Williams, D.W. and Wood, M.S. (2015), "Rule-based reasoning for understanding opportunity evaluation", Academy of Management Perspectives, Vol. 29 No. 2, pp. 218-236.

190. Woo, M.J. (2017), Tidal Energy: The New Sustainable Resource

- 191. World Energy Council (2017)
- 192. Worldfishing & Aquaculture (2014), Fish farming is still the future
- 193. World Shipping (2017), Top Trade Routs

194. Yıldırım, A., & Şimşek, H. (2008). Sosyal Bilimlerde Nitel Araştırma Yöntemleri (6. Baskı). Ankara: Seçkin Yayıncılık.

195. Yildiz, T. (2019), Design and Analysis of a Lightweight Composite Shipping Container Made of Carbon Fiber Laminates.

196. Zahra, S.A., Yavuz, R.I. and Ucbasaran, D. (2006), "How much do you trust me? The dark side of relational trust in new business creation in established companies", Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, Vol. 30 No. 4, pp. 541-559.

197. Zoltan, Acs, & McMullen, Jeffery & Plummer, Lawrence. (2007). What Is an Entrepreneurial Opportunity? Small Business Economics. 28. 273-283. 10.1007/s11187-006-9040-z.

198. https://gcaptain.com/ship-emissions-port-operators-under-pressure/FathomShipping,2013.

199. http://www.esru.strath.ac.uk/Documents/MSc\_2016/Syse.pdf

200. http://www.ewea.org/fileadmin/files/library/publications/reports/Offshore\_Report.pdf,

http://energynumbers.info/units,

201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.07.005.

202. https://orsted.com/-/media/WWW/Docs/Corp/COM/About-us/North-seas/rsted-Paper-01---Europe-Powered-by-Green-energy.

203. https://windeurope.org/policy/topics/offshore-wind-energy/

204. https://www.dnv.com/expert-story/maritime-impact/NEXUS-takes-action.html

205. https://www.dnv.com/maritime/advisory/afi-update/Methanol-as-a-potential-alternative-fuel-for-shipping-A-brief-talk-with-Chris-Chatterton.html

206. https://www.eba.gr/en/worlds-first-electric-aquaculture-support-vessel/

207. https://www.irena.org/documentdownloads/publications/wave-energy\_v4\_web.pdf

208. https://www.napa.fi/shipping-businesses-lose-annually-18-billion-usd-due-to-rush-to-wait/

209. https://www.power-technology.com/features/tidal-energy-advantages-and-disadvantages/

210. https://www.vttresearch.com/en/ourservices/smart-ships-and-maritime-technology

211. https://www.weltenergierat.de/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/North-Sea-Opportunity.pdf

212. https://www.woodharbinger.com/tidal-energy-sustainable-resource/

213. https://www.breakthroughfuel.com/blog/exhaust-gas-cleaning-systems-scrubber-overview ,Muenster 2019

214. https://www.maritime-executive.com/article/ten-scrubber-questions-answered, The Maritime Executive 2018

215. http://www.mobimar.com/electric-propulsion-and-charging

216. http://www2.eng.ox.ac.uk/civil/publications/reports-1/ouel\_2275\_05.pdf

217. https://about.bnef.com/new-energy-outlook/

218. https://analysis.newenergyupdate.com/wind-energy-update/offshore-wind-hydrogen-could-be-subsidy-free-within-10-years

219. https://analysis.newenergyupdate.com/wind-energy-update/offshore-wind-hydrogen-could-be-subsidy-free-within-10-years

220. https://arstechnica.com/information-technology/2019/06/group-to-fund-and-operate-first-hydrogen-fuel-ferry-fleet-in-the-us/

221. https://clearseas.org/en/air-pollution

222. https://clearseas.org/en/air-pollution, november 2020

223. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.07.005.

224. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316446002000104

225. https://en.m.wikipedia.org/wiki/Floating\_solar

226. https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8025701

227. https://pangea.stanford.edu/ERE/pdf/IGAstandard/SGW/2013/Karason.pdf

228. https://phys.org/news/2017-04-fish-farming-industry-climate-friendly.html

229. https://phys.org/news/2017-04-fish-farming-industry-climate-friendly.html

230. https://phys.org/news/2017-04-fish-farming-industry-climate-friendly.html

231. https://solartribune.com/offshore-solar-new-energy-opportunity-coastal-communities/

232. https://windeurope.org/wp-content/uploads/files/about-wind/statistics/WindEurope-Annual-Offshore-Statistics-2018.pdf

233. https://worldmaritimenews.com/archives/277732/norled-picks-westcon-to-build-worlds-1st-hydrogen-ferry/

234. https://worldmaritimenews.com/archives/278979/study-feeder-containerships-ready-to-benefit-from-hybrid-power-systems/

235. https://worldsustainable.org/data-collection-tools/

236. https://www.bridgestone.com/technology\_innovation/hydrogen\_hose/

237. https://www.cleanshipping.org/Air pollution from ships

238. https://www.dnvgl.com/expert-story/maritime-impact/Batteries-on-board-offshore-vessels-setting-the-course.html

239. https://www.dnvgl.com/news/a-new-era-for-hydrogen-energy-unveiled-by-summer-students-at-dnv-gl-33379

240. https://www.dnvgl.com/news/a-new-era-for-hydrogen-energy-unveiled-by-summer-students-at-dnv-gl-33379

241. https://www.dnvgl.com/news/a-new-era-for-hydrogen-energy-unveiled-by-summer-students-at-dnv-gl-33379

242. https://www.eba.gr/en/worlds-first-electric-aquaculture-support-vessel

243. https://www.eba.gr/en/worlds-first-electric-aquaculture-support-vessel

244. https://www.ebnn-nieuw.nl/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/NIB-Hydrogen-Full\_report.pdf

245. https://www.g20karuizawa.go.jp/assets/pdf/The%20future%20of%20Hydrogen.pdf

246. https://www.greenfacts.org/en/tidal-energy/I-2/index.htm

247. https://www.iea.org/tcep/power/renewables/offshorewind/

248. https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Pages/Sulphur-2020.aspx

249. https://www.irena.org/publications/2017/Aug/Geothermal-power-Technology-brief

250. https://www.maritiemland.nl/news/spacesea-to-introduce-floating-islands

251. https://www.offshore-energy.biz/worlds-first-electric-car-ferry-enters-service/

252. https://www.offshore-mag.com/pipelines/article/16762144/geothermal-power-an-alternate-role-for-redundant-north-sea-platforms

253. https://www.offshore-mag.com/production/article/16759723/stateoftheart-of-spread-moored-systems-for-deepwater-floating-production-platforms

254. https://www.rechargenews.com/wind/1802829/deep-purple-seabed-hydrogen-storage-for-offshore-wind-plan

255. https://www.strukts.com/2012/05/types-of-offshore-platforms\_70.html

https://www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1580195/offshore-wind-batteries-lcoe-falling-sharply

256. https://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/energy/publication/where-sun-meets-water

257. https://www.worldfishing.net/news101/offshore-mariculture-exhibition/fish-farming-is-still-the-future,May 2014.

258. https://www.worldfishing.net/news101/offshore-mariculture-exhibition/fish-farming-is-still-the-future

259. www.periscope-network.eu

260. www. northsearegion.eu

261. https://orthospinenews.com/2015/07/23/the-difference-between-innovation-

entrepreneurship/JoshSandberg





# Appendix 1 venturing ideas

Idea	Idea
Decommissioning and building renewable assets	Advanced ultra-efficient propeller designs
Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	Solar cell hybrid system
Maritime synergies and spatial planning	Diversification of the fuel mix
Offshore wind energy	Exhaust scrubber
Electrifying oil and gas platform	Fire Fighter Robots
Seaweed production within offshore wind farms and	Robot Ship Inspectors
use them as a biofuel	
Big data analytics	Prolonging the lifespan of offshore infrastructure
Autonomous system	Below seabed mineral mapping
Robotics	Drone-driven fish hurding
Smart ships (industry 04)	Ocean vent exploitation
Communications technologies middle of the sea	Subsea wireless communications
Renewable energy for Propulsion and Powering	Multi-use platforms
Intelligence below the surface	Underwater satellite network
Sensor for efficient ship	Re-purposing of infrastructure
No-ballast systems	Protein production
Long-distance power transmission	Anti-fouling into metals
Seabed mega-mining	Iron-fertilization of unproductive dead spots
Ocean vent thermal energy conservation	Construct or repair artificial reefs
Applications of high-resolution seabed imaging	Biomineralization
Self-healing material	Membrane desalination
Subsea gardening	Solar desalination
Deep sea medicine	Hybrid satellite subsea mapping
Pre-catch fish recognition	Offshore platform network
Floating cities	High-speed communication
Underwater cities	Underwater greenhouse
Ocean nanobots	Ocean acidification opportunities
Blockchain for fish catch	Offshore Site Selection for a multi-functional use
Underwater laser scanner	Crab and lobster farming
3D imaging of offshore platforms	Modularized infrastructure
Retrieval and reutilization of plastic	Zero-fuel ships
Floating holiday getaway	3D imaging of cargo stowage areas
Floating housing	Cruise Ship waste processing
Copper recovery from the seabed	LNG Bunkering infrastructure in the North Sea
Cloud of Spares	the evolving diesel motor
Shipmanagement Software Solutions	Recycling of wind farms

Idea	Idea
Greener engines	Harvesting of wild local macroalgae populations for
	the food market.
Optimised cooling systems	The nothern sea route (NSR)
Minimal friction hull paint	Autonomous port
Collection of beach-cast macroalgae	Offshore container terminal
Arctic sea ice app	Pre-cooling of containers
UAV for paint inspection	Containers that move autonomously
Flexible underwater pipelines	Under-ice autonomous exploratory vehicles
Laser	Autonomous ship types
AUTONOMOUS/DIGITAL fish farms	Standardized data scheme for monitoring,
	verification, and reporting
Aquaponics	Policing tax evading shipping
Capture and resale of missing elements.	Lightweight components for the next gen offshore
	power plants
Identification, collection, and recycling of plastic from	3D printing for on-site repair and re-design of wind
the sea	turbine components
	(3D-printed turbine components)
ID system to streamline and enhance quality in fish	Wave-powered tsunami warning
production	
Locally produced, high quality sustainable farmed fish	Drones de-icing wind turbines
Recording, processing and resale of minerals from the	Subsea robotic maintenance
seabed	
Pilot project with clean burning gas carriers	Container stacking drones
Sensor system for collecting weather and traffic data	Underwater cargo hyperloop
from ships.	
Seaweed cultivation within wind farms	Antifouling foil
Floating wind turbines	Subsurface hull laser scanner
100% Renewable energy vessels	Wind park repurposing
Filter pots for hydrothermal vents	Autonomous service vessels
Biodegradable Jelly-bots	Drones for enclosed spaces
Open-sourced and standardized big data platform	Hearing coils on wind blades
Offshore vessel charging stations	Digital vessel twinning
Plastic bubble barrier	Underwater laser pipe cutters
Wave parasite	Offshore wind kite farm
50MW floating converter and accumulator	Drone station at offshore platforms
Mussel shields to protect infrastructure	Offshore container terminal
Polar ice app	Game controller for steering
Autonomus replacement ferry	Smart cabins on cruise ships
Manufacturing as a service: Exploiting digitation	Oilfield thermite plug
Ottshore maintenance drones	Subsurface coating reapplication
Deep sea mineral mega-mining	Autonomous offshore service vessels
Offshore sea farming	Very large ice-class container vessel
Smart drone & robotic maintenance	AI for cargo stowage

Idea	Idea
Saltfarming in the North Sea	Environmentally friendly antifouling foil without dry
	docking
Natural User Interfaces (NUI) in blue industries	fully electric fish farm
Offshore multi-use city tourist park energy hub	Smart buoys for digitalization of ocean weather data
Applications of high-resolution seabed imaging for	Plugging sub sea oilfield with thermite
ecosystem management	
Under-ice marine spatial planning	Underwater laser scanner for hull corrosion
	management
Robot retrieval and re-utilization of plastic	Underwater lasers cutter for offshore O&G platform
	decommissioning
Multidisciplinairy Underwater Recycle & Passenger	Offshore 3D printed wind turbine blades
Transporter (MURP)	
Modularized offshore platform construction and	Charging at offshore wind parks
assembly	
Computer-assisted decision verification systems	Thermal vent smoke filtering
Offshore landing strips	Autonomous coast guard platform
Control station in polar region	Solar-powered charging vessel
Polar hotel	charging at Thermal-powered platform
Micro-Service Systems Integration	Renewable Liquid methanol fuel for vessels
Underwater tunnels	Wind turbine blade cleaning by drones(turbine blade
	cleaning drones)
Wind farms that move autonomously in the ocean	3D x-ray container scanner
(Roaming Autonomous Wind Farms)	
Offshore incinerator in the "soup"!	Composite material for ship repair
Underwater laser scanner for hull corrosion	Autonomous underwater vehicle for maintenance
management	operations
Drone & robotic maintenance on offshore platforms	Cruise ship inspection swarms of drones
(Aerial)	
Sub-sea autonomous robotic maintenance on offshore	3D printing of turbine blades
infrastructure	
Autonomous drones for inspection of enclosed spaces	Tide-powered hydrogen vessels
Lashing robots	Container lashing drone
Offshore container terminal	3D x-ray container scanner
Oil & gas platforms decommissioning optimization	Ice thickness measurement drones
Offshore wind park repurposing	Charging at wind farms
Screw piles as foundation for offshore installations	Drone stations at wind farms
3D printing	Flying ships
Autonomous Open Ocean Farming	Man overboard rescue drones
Fireproof composite hulls	Thermal -powered platform
document delivery drones	Laser-based navigation
Autonomous bird abatement drones	Underwater data laser
Ice-class container vessel	Thermal vent smoke-filtering
Subsea drone charging platform	Autonomous underwater dredger

Idea	Idea					
Composite bulk carrier hull	Smart weather buoys					
Foldable containers	Lightweight containers					
Composite for ship repairs	Microgrids at large ports					
Offshore logistics hub	Virtual arrival agreements					
Document delivery drones	Multipurpose drones on ships					
Autonomous containers	Welding inspection drones					
International MRV	Electric pulse fishing					
Open weather data platform						
Al for cargo stowage						
Renewable methanol vessels						
seafloor screw piles						



PERISCOPE is supported by the North Sea Region (NSR) EU grant J-No. 32-2-13-17





### Appendix 2 AHP questionnaires-Criteria questionnaire



Goal:	Creating value for	The ability to solve	Commercially	Feasibility
Decarbonizing	the NSR	emission.	availability time	
And zero emission				
Creating value for	1			
the NSR				
The ability to solve		1		
emission.				
Commercially			1	
availability time				
Feasibility				1

## Saaty's Scale of Relative Importance

Numerical rating	Reciprocal
9	1/9
8	1/8
7	1/7
6	1/6
5	1/5
4	1/4
3	1/3
2	1/2
1	1
	Numerical rating 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1



Source:(Saaty,2005)

PERISCOPE is supported by the North Sea Region (NSR) EU grant J-No. 32-2-13-17





#### Appendix 2 AHP questionnaires-Infrastructural venturing ideas questionnaires

Infrastructural venturing ideas

Saaty's Sc	ale of	Relative	Importance
South South South		neiurive	mportance

Scale	Numerical rating	Reciprocal
Extremely preferred	9	1/9
Very strong to extremely	8	1/8
Very strongly preferred	7	1/7
Strongly to very strongly	6	1/6
Strongly preferred	5	1/5
Moderately to strongly	4	1/4
Moderately preferred	3	1/3
Equally to moderately	2	1/2
Equally preferred	1	1

Source:(Saaty,2005)







Creating value for the NSR	Decommissioning optimization	Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	Offshore container terminal	Offshore vessel charging stations	Microgrids at large ports	Fully electric fish farm	Thermal -powered platform	Offshore logistics hub	Subsea drone charging platform	Wind park repurposing	Roaming autonomous wind farms
Decommissioning optimization	1										
Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets		1									
Offshore container terminal			1								
Offshore vessel charging stations				1							
Microgrids at large ports					1						
Fully electric fish farm						1					
Thermal -powered platform							1				
Offshore logistics hub								1			
Subsea drone charging platform									1		
Wind park repurposing										1	
Roaming autonomous wind											1
tarms											

The ability to solve emission problem	Decommissioning optimization	Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	Offshore container terminal	Offshore vessel charging stations	Microgrids at large ports	Fully electric fish farm	Thermal -powered platform	Offshore logistics hub	Subsea drone charging platform	Wind park repurposing	Roaming autonomous wind farms
Decommissioning optimization	1										
Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets		1									
Offshore container terminal			1								
Offshore vessel charging stations				1							
Microgrids at large ports					1						
Fully electric fish farm						1					
Thermal -powered platform							1				
Offshore logistics hub								1			
Subsea drone charging platform									1		
Wind park repurposing										1	
Roaming autonomous wind farms											1



Commercially availability time	Decommissioning optimization	Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	Offshore container terminal	Offshore vessel charging stations	Microgrids at large ports	Fully electric fish farm	Thermal -powered platform	Offshore logistics hub	Subsea drone charging platform	Wind park repurposing	Roaming autonomous wind farms
Decommissioning optimization	1										
Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets		1									
Offshore container terminal			1								
Offshore vessel charging stations				1							
Microgrids at large ports					1						
Fully electric fish farm						1					
Thermal -powered platform							1				
Offshore logistics hub								1			
Subsea drone charging platform									1		
Wind park repurposing										1	
Roaming autonomous wind farms											1

Idea	Decommissioning	Prolonging	Offshore	Offshore vessel	Microgrids	Fully	Thermal -	Offshore	Subsea	Wind park	Roaming
	optimization	life and re-	container	charging stations	at large	electric fish	powered	logistics hub	drone	repurposing	autonomous
		O&G assets	terminal		ports	farm	platform		charging		wind farms
									platform		
Commercially	2032	2031	2030	2031	2030	2030	2035	2035	2030	2030	2033
availability											
time											

Feasibility	Decommissioning optimization	Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets	Offshore container terminal	Offshore vessel charging stations	Microgrids at large ports	Fully electric fish farm	Thermal -powered platform	Offshore logistics hub	Subsea drone charging platform	Wind park repurposing	Roaming autonomous wind farms
Decommissioning optimization	1										
Prolonging life and re-purposing O&G assets		1									
Offshore container terminal			1								
Offshore vessel charging stations				1							
Microgrids at large					1						
Fully electric fish farm						1					
Thermal -powered platform							1				
Offshore logistics hub								1			
Subsea drone charging platform									1		
Wind park repurposing										1	
Roaming autonomous wind farms											1





### Appendix 2 AHP questionnaires-Shipbuilding venturing ideas questionnaires



## Saaty's Scale of Relative Importance

Scale	Numerical rating	Reciprocal
Extremely preferred	9	1/9
Very strong to extremely	8	1/8
Very strongly preferred	7	1/7
Strongly to very strongly	6	1/6
Strongly preferred	5	1/5
Moderately to strongly	4	1/4
Moderately preferred	3	1/3
Equally to moderately	2	1/2
Equally preferred	1	1

Source:(Saaty,2005)







Creating value for the NSR	Smart ships	Sensor for efficient ship	100% Renewable energy vessels	Greener engines	Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs	Exhaust scrubber	Solar-powered charging vessel	Composite bulk carrier hull	Renewable methanol vessels	Tide-powered hydrogen vessels	Flying ships	Ice-class container
Smart ships	1											
Sensor for efficient ship		1										
100% Renewable energy vessels			1									
Greener engines				1								
Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs					1							
Exhaust scrubber						1						
Solar-powered charging vessel							1					
Composite bulk carrier hull								1				
Renewable methanol vessels									1			
Tide-powered hydrogen vessels										1		
Flying ships											1	
Ice-class container												1

The ability to solve emission problem	Smart ships	Sensor for efficient ship	100% Renewable energy vessels	Greener engines	Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs	Exhaust scrubber	Solar-powered charging vessel	Composite bulk carrier hull	Renewable methanol vessels	Tide-powered hydrogen vessels	Flying ships	Ice-class container
Smart ships	1											
Sensor for efficient ship		1										
100% Renewable energy vessels			1									
Greener engines				1								
Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs					1							
Exhaust scrubber						1						
Solar-powered charging vessel							1					
Composite bulk carrier hull								1				
Renewable methanol vessels									1			
Tide-powered hydrogen vessels										1		
Flying ships											1	
Ice-class container												1







Commercially availability time	Smart ships	Sensor for efficient ship	100% Renewable energy vessels	Greener engines	Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs	Exhaust scrubber	Solar-powered charging vessel	Composite bulk carrier hull	Renewable methanol vessels	Tide-powered hydrogen vessels	Flying ships	Ice-class container
Smart ships	1											
Sensor for efficient ship		1										
100% Renewable energy vessels			1									
Greener engines				1								
Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs					1							
Exhaust scrubber						1						
Solar-powered charging vessel							1					
Composite bulk carrier hull								1				
Renewable methanol vessels									1			
Tide-powered hydrogen vessels										1		
Flying ships											1	
Ice-class container												1

Idea	Smart	Sensor for	100%	Greener	Advanced	Exhaust	Solar-	Composite	Renewable	Tide-	Flying	Ice-class
	ships	efficient ship	Renewable	engines	ultra-efficient	scrubber	powered	bulk carrier	methanol	powered	ships	container
			energy		propeller		charging	hull	vessels	hydrogen		
			vessels		designs		vessel			vessels		
Commercially	2028	2029	2034	2031	2025	2023	2035	2029	2031	2035	2031	2030
availability												
time												

Feasibility	Smart ships	Sensor for efficient ship	100% Renewable energy vessels	Greener engines	Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs	Exhaust scrubber	Solar-powered charging vessel	Composite bulk carrier hull	Renewable methanol vessels	Tide-powered hydrogen vessels	Flying ships	lce-class container
Smart ships	1											
Sensor for efficient ship		1										
100% Renewable energy vessels			1									
Greener engines				1								
Advanced ultra- efficient propeller designs					1							
Exhaust scrubber						1						
Solar-powered charging vessel							1					
Composite bulk carrier hull								1				
Renewable methanol vessels									1			
Tide-powered hydrogen vessels										1		
Flying ships											1	
Ice-class container												1



#### Appendix 2 AHP questionnaires-Technology venturing ideas questionnaires



#### Technological venturing ideas

Scale	Numerical rating	Reciprocal
Extremely preferred	9	1/9
Very strong to extremely	8	1/8
Very strongly preferred	7	1/7
Strongly to very strongly	6	1/6
Strongly preferred	5	1/5
Moderately to strongly	4	1/4
Moderately preferred	3	1/3
Equally to moderately	2	1/2
Equally preferred	1	1

#### Saaty's Scale of Relative Importance

Source:(Saaty,2005)







Creating value for the NSR	Offshore maintenance drones	Long-distance power transmission	Ocean nanobots	Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	Lightweight containers	Virtual arrival agreements	Oilfield thermite plug	International MRV monitoring	Al for cargo stowage
Offshore	1								
maintenance drones									
Long-distance power		1							
transmission									
Ocean nanobots			1						
Charging at offshore				1					
wind parks/farms									
Lightweight					1				
containers									
Virtual arrival agreements						1			
Oilfield thermite plug							1		
International MRV								1	
monitoring									
AI for cargo stowage									1

The ability to solve emission problem	Offshore maintenance drones	Long-distance power transmission	Ocean nanobots	Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	Lightweight containers	Virtual arrival agreements	Oilfield thermite plug	International MRV monitoring	Al for cargo stowage
Offshore	1								
maintenance drones									
Long-distance power		1							
transmission									
Ocean nanobots			1						
Charging at offshore				1					
wind parks/farms									
Lightweight					1				
containers									
Virtual arrival						1			
agreements									
Oilfield thermite plug							1		
International MRV								1	
monitoring									
Al for cargo stowage									1

Commercially availability time	Offshore maintenance drones	Long-distance power transmission	Ocean nanobots	Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	Lightweight containers	Virtual arrival agreements	Oilfield thermite plug	International MRV monitoring	Al for cargo stowage
Offshore maintenance drones	1								
Long-distance power transmission		1							
Ocean nanobots			1						
Charging at offshore wind parks/farms				1					
Lightweight containers					1				
Virtual arrival agreements						1			
Oilfield thermite plug							1		
International MRV monitoring								1	
AI for cargo stowage									1

Idea	Offshore	Long-distance	Ocean	Charging at	Lightweight	Virtual	Oilfield	International	AI for cargo
	maintenance	power	nanobots	offshore	containers	arrival	thermite	MRV	stowage
	drones	transmission		wind		agreements	plug	monitoring	
				parks/farms					
Commercially	2028	2032	2034	2027	2030	2025	2030	2026	2025
availability									
time									

Feasibility	Offshore maintenance drones	Long-distance power transmission	Ocean nanobots	Charging at offshore wind parks/farms	Lightweight containers	Virtual arrival agreements	Oilfield thermite plug	International MRV monitoring	Al for cargo stowage
Offshore maintenance drones	1								
Long-distance power transmission		1							
Ocean nanobots			1						
Charging at offshore wind parks/farms				1					
Lightweight containers					1				
Virtual arrival agreements						1			
Oilfield thermite plug							1		
International MRV monitoring								1	
Al for cargo stowage									1



# Appendix 3: Samples of Commercially availability time Questionnaire (See all questionnaire in the Periscope website: https://periscope-network.eu/business-opportunities.)

#### Charging at wind farms

On the sliding scale below, estimate how many years from now, that electric service vessels recharging at offshore wind farms, will become an accepted practice, i.e. commercially available (0= already here).

0	5	10	15	20	25	30
					Will never ha	ppen

What is needed to make this opportunity happen?

#### Fully electric fish farm.

On the sliding scale below, please estimate how many years from now, that a fully-electric fish farm, powered by wave energy and capable of charging service vessels, will be installed in the North Sea (0= already here).

0	5	10	15	20	25	30
					Will never l	nappen

What is needed to make this opportunity happen?



PERISCOPE is supported by the North Sea Region (NSR) EU grant J-No. 32-2-13-17



#### Tide-powered hydrogen vessels.

On the sliding scale below, please estimate how many years from now, that hydrogen from tidal plants replaces 1MW diesel vessels powering, will become an accepted practice to, i.e. commercially available (0= already here).

0	5	10	15	20	25	30
					U Will never	happen

What is needed to make this opportunity happen?

#### **Renewable methanol vessels**

On the sliding scale below, please estimate how many years from now, that using methanol for ocean going vessels will become an accepted practice, i.e. commercially available. (0= already here).

0	5	10	15	20	25	30
					🗌 Will never	happen

What is needed to make this opportunity happen?





# **Appendix 4: Thematic Analysis Questionnaires**

Infrastructural entrepreneurial opportunities														
Codes	Political	Economic	Social	Technological	Environmental									
Environmental management forces														
Financially viable														
Value of product														
Financial incentives														
Cultural shift														
Collaboration														
Human factor														
Enhance performance														
Safety														
Environmentally friendly														
Location planning														
Installation														
R&D														
Knowledge														
Capacity														
Demand														
Technology improvement														
Technology acceptance														
Cost														
Investment														
Legislation														
Industry regulation														
Government														
New rules														
Government enforcement														
International laws														
Monitoring														
Technical aspects														







shipbuilding entrepreneurial opportunities														
Codes	Political	Economic	Social	Technological	Environmental									
Environmental aspect														
Technical aspects														
Awareness														
Risk analysis														
Safety														
Environment management														
Demand														
Investment														
cost														
Government														
legislation														
Process management														
New rules														
Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS)														
R&D														
Financial incentives														
collaboration														
Government incentives														
Storage technology														
Dual fuel combustion														
Energy storage capabilities														
Training of crews														
Economic feasibility study														
Alteration of ship														
Renewable energy accessibility														





Technological entrepreneurial opportunities														
Codes	Political	Economic	Social	Technological	Environmental									
Environmental aspect														
Infrastructure														
Awareness														
Risk analysis														
Safety														
Environmental management														
Financial incentive														
Demand														
Investment														
Standards														
Cost														
Government														
legislation														
General agreement														
Test of the platform														
The NSR regulations														
Technical aspects														
Industry 4.0														
Government enforces														
Communication infrastructure														
Profit														
Collaboration														
Technological advancement														
R&D														
Financially viable														
Reliability														







	mental	lasnemnonivn3 framegenem forces																												
	Environ	Environment friendly																												
		noitelletenI																												
		6ujuuejd roceanou						T	T																					
		Atajes		$\vdash$	-			+	+	-	-	$\vdash$		$\vdash$	⊢		⊢			+	_		⊢	$\vdash$					$\vdash$	
	logical	stoedse IPoiuupe i						╈	t					F			F													
	Techno	acceptance		$\vdash$				+	+	$\vdash$	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$			+	_		⊢						$\vdash$	
		VpolonAc						+	-											_								<b></b>		
		improvement		$\vdash$				+	┢		-			$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$			+	_						<u> </u>	-	┢	
		Τθοίοπλ						+																				<b> </b>		
		Human factor																												
	.e	Cultural shift																												
	Soc	Collaboration																												
		ебрәјмоиу						Τ																						
5		performance Bnhance																												
Itunitie		leioneni <sup>1</sup> incentives		$\vdash$				+	+		$\vdash$			┢	$\vdash$															
ial oppo		viable		⊢	$\vdash$			+	+	$\vdash$	$\vdash$			$\vdash$																
reneur	nomic	puemed		⊢	┢			+	+	-	$\vdash$	$\vdash$	<u> </u>			-	$\vdash$			+	_		⊢	$\vdash$						
entrep	Eco	capacity		+	$\vdash$			+	+	-	-						$\vdash$				-									
tural		feoS		$\vdash$	$\vdash$			+	+		$\vdash$				$\vdash$		$\vdash$	$\square$		+			$\vdash$							
astruc		Investment		$\vdash$	t			$^{+}$	$\top$					$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$													
Infr		Value of Value of																												
		International laws												$\square$	$\square$		$\square$						F							
		Monitoring		+							$\vdash$	$\vdash$	-	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$			+	_		⊢							
		Covernment enforcement						Г			$\vdash$			$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$			1			$\vdash$							
	itical	regulation		$\vdash$					+		$\vdash$	$\vdash$		╞	$\vdash$		╞			+	_		┢	$\vdash$					$\vdash$	
	Pol	New rules		$\vdash$				+	+	-	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$			+	_		⊢	$\vdash$					$\vdash$	
		Government						+	+	$\vdash$	$\vdash$			$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$			╡			⊢							
		noifelsipel						+	+	-	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		$\vdash$	$\vdash$	-	$\vdash$	$\vdash$		+	_		⊢	$\vdash$					$\vdash$	
								+	+		-				$\vdash$					+	_								2	
		des	lation	nment	rules	regulation	nment	orino	onal laws	product	tment	ist	acity	and	ly viable	incentives	erformance	ledge	oration	al shift	n factor	ology ement	9	acceptanc	l aspects	ety	planning	lation	tally friend	imental ent forces
		Š	Legisl	Govern	New	Industry r	Goveri	Monit	Internatio	Value of	Invest	Ű	capa	Dem	Financial	Financial i	Enhance pe	Know	Collabo	Culture	Human	Techn improv	R	<b>Technology</b>	Technica	saf	Location	Instal	nvironment	Environ managem
																								<u> </u>					1	
	Themes			Political										Economic						Social					Technological				Environmental	

# Appendix 5: Structural analysis questionnaires

0: No influence

1: Weak 2: Moderate influence

3: Strong influence

		Codes New rules	New rules	Government	newable portfolio standard (RPS)	ernment incentives	Legislation	Risk analysis	Investment	Cost	nancial incentive	Demand	onomic feasibility	study	Awareness	Collaboration	raining of crews	enewable energy accessibility	echnical aspects	Iteration of ship	orage technology	al fuel combustion	cess management	Energy storage capabilities	R&D	Safety		ronmentally aspect	Environmental
	Politica	Renewable portfolio standard																											
	-	Government incentives		F																									
		noifeleipeu												_												+		+	
		Investment																										4	
	ŝ	feoS																											
	nomic	Finencial evitnecni																										+	
Shipbuild		Demand		╞			╞																			-		_	
ing entrep		teasibility study Augreness		┢			┢																					+	
reneurial	S	Collaboration		╞			╞												$\vdash$					-		+		+	
opportuniti	cial	Training of					╞																					_	
S		Renewable energy accessibility																											
		Technical stoeqse																											
		Alteration of Girla																											
	Technologi	Storage																										+	
	Tes .	Process		╞			╞	╞						+					$\vdash$							+	-	+	
		Energy Energy		╞			╞							4														_	
		capabilities		+			+	╞						╡					$\vdash$									+	
		R&D Safety		$\vdash$			+							+														+	
		Environment																										4	
	invironm	toedse		╞			╞	$\vdash$											$\vdash$					-		╞			
	ental	framagenem																											

0: No influence

г

1: Weak 2: Moderate influence

3: Strong influence

PERISCOPE

	nental	Environmental aspects																												
	Environ	letnomnorivn3 tnomogenem																												
		Communication infrastructure																												
		Technical stoeqts																												
		lesigolondseT tnemesnevbe																												
		Safety																												
	chnolog	אאס																												
	Ter	Test of the platform																												
		YJIIIdaileA																												
		Infrastructure																												
		0.4 Yrdustry 4.0																												
	lei	SSƏNƏTEWA																												
5	Soc	Collaboration																												
portuniti		feoD																												
urial op		Profit																												
treprene	mic	Financially Viable																												
gical en	Econol	bnem9Q																												
chnolo		Finentive																												
ľ		sisylene AsiA																												
		Investment																												
		General																												
		Standards																												
	litical	Regulations regulations																												
	P	Government enforces																												
		noiteleiped																												
		Government																												
		Codes	Government	Legislation	Government enforces	The NSR regulations	Standards	General agreement	Investment	Risk analysis	Financial incentive	Demand	Financially viable	Profit	Cost	Collaboration	Awareness	Industry 4.0	Infrastructure	Reliability	Test of the platform	R&D	Safety	Technological	advancement	Technical aspects	Communication	Intrastructure	Environmental management	Environmental aspects
	Themes			Political									Economic				Social					Technological							Environmental	

0: No influence

1: Weak

2: Moderate influence

3: Strong influence

PERISCOPE